Collective Agreement

Between

The Board of Governors of the Southern Alberta Institute of Technology (SAIT)

and

The SAIT Academic Faculty Association (SAFA)

July 1, 2024- June 30, 2028

Land Acknowledgment

Oki, Âba wathtech, Danit'ada, Tawnshi, Hello. SAIT is located on the traditional territories of the Niitsitapi (Blackfoot) and the people of Treaty 7 which includes the Siksika, the Piikani, the Kainai, the Tsuut'ina and the Îyârhe Nakoda of Bearspaw, Chiniki and Goodstoney. We are situated in an area the Blackfoot tribes traditionally called Moh'kinsstis, where the Bow River meets the Elbow River. We now call it the city of Calgary, which is also home to the Métis Nation of Alberta.

For any updates to SAIT's <u>Land Acknowledgement</u> click here or visit Acknowledgement of Traditional Territories page on SAIT.ca.

Table of Contents

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS	5
SECTION 2 - EFFECTIVE DATE AND TERM	7
SECTION 3 - JURISDICTION	8
SECTION 4 - MANAGEMENT RECOGNITION	8
SECTION 5 - SAIT ACADEMIC FACULTY ASSOCIATION RECOGNITION	8
SECTION 6 - ASSOCIATION MEMBERSHIP AND DUES DEDUCTION	9
SECTION 7 - LEGISLATION AND THE COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT	10
SECTION 8 - EMPLOYER-ASSOCIATION RELATIONS	10
SECTION 9 - PRINTING OF AGREEMENTS	12
SECTION 10 - TERMS OF EMPLOYMENT	12
SECTION 11 - APPLICATION	13
SECTION 12 - PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT	14
SECTION 13 - POSITION ABOLISHMENT	15
SECTION 14 - PROBATIONARY PERIOD	17
SECTION 15 - PERFORMANCE REVIEWS	18
SECTION 16 - PROGRESSIVE DISCIPLINARY ACTION	18
SECTION 17 - GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE	20
SECTION 18 - EMPLOYMENT INSURANCE REBATE	26
SECTION 19 - SAFETY AND HEALTH	26
SECTION 20 - SUPPLIES, EQUIPMENT & INSTRUCTIONAL MATERIALS	26
SECTION 21 - PROTECTIVE CLOTHING	26
SECTION 22 - CASUAL ILLNESS	27
SECTION 23 - GENERAL ILLNESS	27
SECTION 24 - PENSION PLANS	29
SECTION 25 – LONG-TERM DISABILITY (LTD)	29
SECTION 26 - HEALTH & WELLNESS PLAN BENEFITS	31
SECTION 27 - WORKERS' COMPENSATION SUPPLEMENT	33
SECTION 28 - DENTAL PLAN	33
SECTION 29 LIFE INSURANCE & ACCIDENTAL DEATH AND DISMEMBERMENT PLAN	34
SECTION 30 - ATTENDANCE AND RESIGNATION	35

SECTION 31 - HOURS OF WORK	36
SECTION 32 - ANNUAL VACATION LEAVE	38
SECTION 33 - PAID HOLIDAYS	40
SECTION 34 - SPECIAL LEAVE	41
SECTION 35 - REPORTING	43
SECTION 36 - WORKLOADS – FACULTY	43
SECTION 37 - COURT LEAVE	47
SECTION 38 - CHRISTMAS LEAVE	47
SECTION 39 - LEAVE WITHOUT PAY	47
SECTION 40 - MATERNITY/PARENTAL/ADOPTION LEAVE	48
SECTION 41 - TIME OFF FOR ASSOCIATION BUSINESS	48
SECTION 42 – LONG-SERVICE ALLOWANCE	49
SECTION 43 - EDUCATION ALLOWANCE	49
SECTION 44 - ACTING INCUMBENT	50
SECTION 45 - OVERTIME	50
SECTION 46 - OVERLOAD PAY	51
SECTION 47 - FOUR FOR FIVE LEAVE	51
SECTION 48 - TRAVEL AND SUBSISTENCE	51
SECTION 49 - COPYRIGHT AND PATENTS	51
SECTION 50 - SALARY SCHEDULES	52
SIGNATURE PAGE	57
LOU – ADJUNCT FACULTY	58
LOU – ADJUNCT FACULTY	
	60
LOU – BENEFITS REVIEW COMMITTEE	60 62

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS

1.01 In this collective agreement unless the context otherwise requires:

A word used in the singular may also apply in the plural;

- a. "academic staff member" means an employee of the board who, as a member of a category of employees or individually, has been designated as an academic staff member by the Board;
- b. "annual salary" means the annual amount of an academic staff member's regular salary, but excluding any other compensation except that Acting Incumbency Pay shall be included for overtime calculations only;
- c. "Association" means the SAIT Academic Faculty Association (SAFA) continued under the *Post-Secondary Learning Act*, as amended from time to time;
- d. "Association Representative" means a person who is selected, subject to the limitations specified in Section 8, by the academic staff members in SAFA to act on behalf of those academic staff members;
- e. "Designated Officer" means a person who is authorized, on behalf of the Employer to hear and resolve grievances;
- f. "demotion" means a transfer to a position with a lower maximum salary;
- g. "discipline" or "disciplinary action" includes written reprimand(s), suspension(s) and dismissal;
- h. "employee" means a person employed as an academic staff member in one of the following categories:
 - i. "full-time permanent position" a full-time position, the duties of which are
 of a continuing nature of indefinite extent, and in which the incumbent is
 required to work year-round;
 - ii. "part-time permanent position" a position in which the incumbent is required to work not less than:
 - (a) three (3) hours on each work day in the year, or
 - (b) seven (7) hours per day on two (2) or more work days per week, or
 - (c) ten (10) full work days in each month;
 - iii. "temporary-salaried position" a position established as such in which the incumbent is required for full-time or part-time employment for a definite period;
 - iv. "probationary employee" means an academic staff member who during the member's initial period of employment is serving a probationary period;

- v. "casual employment" is non-permanent employment on an hourly basis for use in approved programming. A casual academic staff member may work up to the standard hours of work in Section 31, Hours of Work; however, when the hours of work exceeds eight hundred (800) contract hours in an academic year, the academic staff member must be assigned to a temporary-salaried or permanent position for the subsequent academic year. For the purposes of determining the 800-hour threshold, any adjunct contract hours worked in any approved program that academic year will apply.
- vi. "Adjunct faculty" is a position established to instruct on a non-permanent, hourly basis, as per the Adjunct Faculty Letter of Understanding.
- "Employer" means the Board of Governors established by the Lieutenant Governor in Council to operate and control the Southern Alberta Institute of Technology as described in the *Post-Secondary Learning Act*, 2003;
- j. "hourly rate" means the annual salary divided by the academic staff member's normal annual hours of work;
- k. "increment" means the difference between one step and the next step as outlined in Section 50;
- I. "maximum salary" means the highest period of the highest step assigned to a class;
- m. "minimum salary" means the lowest period of the lowest step assigned to a class;
- n. "month" means a calendar month;
- o. "monthly salary" means annual salary divided by twelve (12);
- p. "pay range" means a single salary grade established for:
 - i. Faculty as per Section 50, and
 - ii. Classifications other than Faculty as per Section 50
 - iii. Adjunct faculty as per LOU Adjunct Faculty
- q. "Performance Reviews" are both a formative and summative process whereby performance objectives are established and reviewed;
- r. "step" means a numbered position on the salary table in Section 50;
- s. "day" means work day unless otherwise specified;
- t. "work day" means any day on which an academic staff member is normally expected to be at their place of employment.
- u. "asynchronous"- asynchronous learning is defined as a learning experience where students engage with instructors and fellow students at a time of their convenience and do not need to be co-present online or in a physical space.
- v. "synchronous" synchronous learning is defined as a learning experience where students interact with instructors and other students at a set time.

- w. "approved"- For the purposes of determining the type of employment only, approved programs may include the following credentials: Degree, Applied Degree, Diploma, Certificate, Apprenticeship, Academic Upgrading, Open Studies, English Language Foundations. Other credentials may be added with consultation between the Parties.
- x. "non-approved"- For the purposes of determining the type of employment only, non-approved programs may include programs such as Continuing Education, Third-party credit, Customized corporate training, overseas programming, micro-credentials. Other programs may be added with consultation between the Parties.
- y. Classroom Instructional Hour Fifty (50) minutes of scheduled classroom instruction. Classroom instruction may take place synchronously or asynchronously and may incorporate virtual classrooms and/or physical classrooms.

SECTION 2 - EFFECTIVE DATE AND TERM

- 2.01 Except as otherwise provided, this collective agreement shall take effect as of the date of ratification by the Association and shall remain in effect until June 30, 2028, and shall remain in effect thereafter until a replacement collective agreement is established.
- 2.02 The term of this collective agreement is:

```
July 1, 2024 - 2025: 3%,
July 1, 2025 - 2026: 3%,
July 1, 2026 - 2027: 3%,
July 1, 2027 - 2028: 3%
```

A three per cent (3%) increase to each increment on the salary grids contained in Section 50 of the existing collective agreement (the "General Wage Increase") to be applied on July 1 of each year of the nominal term of the collective agreement. The first General Wage Increase to be paid retroactively to July 1, 2024, to those eligible SAFA members who are actively employed by SAIT on ratification date. The grid steps in s.50 will be increased by three percent (3%).

SECTION 3 - JURISDICTION

- 3.01 The provisions of this agreement apply to all employees occupying positions in the academic staff of the Employer within the Province of Alberta for the term of this agreement designated as:
 - (a) Faculty
 - (b) Librarian I Librarian II Librarian III
 - (c) Educational Counsellor I
 Educational Counsellor II
- 3.02 SAIT and the Board of Governors may from time to time enter into agreements to deliver SAIT curriculum to Parties who are outside the jurisdiction of Alberta. In situations where SAFA members are asked and have agreed to deliver instruction outside of the jurisdiction of Alberta, the terms and conditions as outlined in the Collective Agreement shall not apply except for Section 6.03 Association Membership and Dues Deduction.
- 3.03 SAFA Employees on secondment to deliver such instruction shall maintain benefits and rights to return to their pre-secondment appointment. Such secondment shall not constitute a break in service.

SECTION 4 - MANAGEMENT RECOGNITION

4.01 The Association recognizes that all functions, rights, powers and authority which the Employer has not specifically abridged, delegated or modified by this collective agreement are retained by the Employer.

SECTION 5 - SAIT ACADEMIC FACULTY ASSOCIATION RECOGNITION

5.01 The Employer recognizes the Association as the exclusive bargaining agent for all academic staff members covered by this collective agreement. The Employer shall not recognize any academic staff member or group of academic staff members as representing the Association, nor shall the Employer enter into any separate agreement(s) with an academic staff member, a group of academic staff members or an Association representative which compromises the terms or conditions of employment contained in this collective agreement without the prior written approval of the President of the Association.

- 5.02 The Employer and the Association agree that there shall be no discrimination or coercion exercised or practiced with respect to any academic staff member for reason of membership or legitimate activity in the Association.
- 5.03 The Employer will provide specific bulletin board space for use of the Association at locations on the Employer's premises, which are accessible to academic staff members. Sites of the bulletin boards are to be determined by the Employer and the Association. Bulletin board space shall be used for the posting of the Association information directed to its members. All items to be placed on bulletin boards shall be cleared by Associate Vice President of Human Resources or designate prior to posting.
- 5.04 Meeting rooms on any campus may be booked, if available, by the Association and such rooms will be provided by the Employer without charge.
- 5.05 An academic staff member shall have the right to wear or display the recognized insignia of the Association; however, no such insignia larger than a lapel pin shall be worn on issued clothing or uniforms, nor shall an insignia be displayed on Employer's equipment or facilities.

SECTION 6 - ASSOCIATION MEMBERSHIP AND DUES DEDUCTION

- 6.01 All academic staff members covered by this collective agreement shall become members of the Association as a condition of employment.
- 6.02 Notwithstanding the generality of the above, all academic staff members covered by this collective agreement shall be required to pay association dues. The Employer shall, therefore, as a condition of employment, deduct each month the amount of the association dues as set by the Association from time to time from the pay of all academic staff members covered by this collective agreement.
- 6.03 All instruction offered by any independent contractor, in either approved programming or non-approved programming offered under SAIT auspices on or off the SAIT campus is subject to the payment of Association dues.
- 6.04 (a) The Employer shall remit association dues deducted from the pay of all academic staff members to the Association by the first working day after the fifteenth calendar day in the following month. Where an accounting adjustment is necessary to correct an over or under payment of dues, it shall be effected in the succeeding month. The deductions remitted shall be accompanied by particulars identifying each academic staff member in a form showing academic staff member number, School, starting date, association dues, type of appointment, amount deducted, name, email and last known address. Further,

the Employer shall provide to the Association, on a monthly basis, a list containing the name and last known address of current recipients of Long-Term Disability Insurance and Retirees.

- (b) The Employer shall remit Association dues, by employees under 6.03, in the same manner provided under 6.04(a) except that a single payment may be made to cover the whole contract. Each contract must be identified in the report either by individual name or by registered company.
- 6.05 The Association shall advise the Employer, in writing, of any change in the amount of dues to be deducted from the academic staff members covered by this collective agreement. Such notice shall be communicated to the Employer at least thirty (30) days prior to the effective date of the change.
- 6.06 The Association agrees to indemnify and save the Employer harmless against any claim or liability arising out of the application of this Section.

SECTION 7 - LEGISLATION AND THE COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT

- 7.01 In the event that any laws of the Government of Alberta or Canada render null and void, or reduce any provision of this collective agreement, the remaining provisions shall remain in effect for the term of the collective agreement. The Parties hereto may negotiate, in accordance with the bargaining procedures herein provided a different provision to be substituted for the provision rendered null and void, or reduced.
- 7.02 Where a difference arises out of the provisions contained in a Section of the collective agreement, and the subject matter is also covered in Employer regulations, policies, procedures, guidelines or directives, the collective agreement shall supersede.

SECTION 8 - EMPLOYER-ASSOCIATION RELATIONS

- 8.01 Recognition of Association Representatives who are not members of the academic staff shall be limited to the following:
 - (a) two members of the Negotiating Committee,
 - (b) two representatives in an arbitration hearing under the provisions of Section 17.14 of this Agreement
 - (c) one representative at meetings held with respect to Level 1 and Level 2 grievance meetings.

- All other Association Representatives shall be academic staff members.
- 8.02 With respect to Subsection 8.01(c), the Association will use Association Representatives who are not members of the academic staff only when expertise is required that is not available from academic staff members.
- 8.03 The Association will notify the employer of the intention to use Association Representatives who are not members of the academic staff at any hearing or meeting.
- 8.04 The Employer will grant association representatives access to its premises for:
 - (a) negotiations, or
 - (b) participating in committees with representatives of the Employer, or
 - (c) investigating or dealing with a grievance, providing such privilege will not interfere with the operations of the department/school concerned.
- 8.05 The Employer may grant association representative(s) access to its premises for other purposes approved in advance by the Employer. Such approval will not be unreasonably denied.
- 8.06 The Employer and the Association will exchange lists of designated officers and association representatives for the purposes of grievance investigation by October 31 of each year.
- 8.07 The Employer recognizes the association representative as an official representative of the Association.
- 8.08 The Employer acknowledges the right of the Association to appoint academic staff members in the bargaining unit as association representatives.
- 8.09 The Association, in consultation with the Employer, shall determine the number of association representatives having regard to operational needs and the distribution of academic staff members at the workplace.
- 8.10 The parties agree that a Joint Advisory Committee shall normally meet at least once a month to review and discuss matters referred by, or of concern to either party relating to this collective agreement. The Joint Advisory Committee will be comprised of a maximum of eight (8) members with equal representation from the Association and the Employer.

SECTION 9 - PRINTING OF AGREEMENTS

- 9.01 The parties agree that the collective agreement shall be made available on the Employer's website.
- 9.02 The Parties agree that following ratification of the Memorandum of Agreement by both Parties, SAFA shall prepare the Collective Agreement incorporating all of the ratified changes for vetting by the Employer prior to signing.
- 9.03 The vetted and proofread and signed copy shall become a final searchable PDF version of the collective agreement (content, format and color). Each Party agrees to the placement of a searchable PDF version of the Collective Agreement on each party's website within thirty (30) calendar days of ratification of the Collective Agreement by both Parties.
- 9.04 Each Party further agrees to pay full cost of printing copies that they order.

SECTION 10 - TERMS OF EMPLOYMENT

- 10.01 The Employer during the life of this collective agreement may with the agreement of the Association:
 - (a) alter rates of academic staff member compensation, or
 - (b) alter any academic staff member entitlement or academic staff member rights which are contained within this collective agreement and upon such agreement these changes shall become the rates, entitlements, or academic staff member rights.
- 10.02 (a) The Employer shall give written notice to the Association of the establishment of new or altered classes or class levels affecting compensation.
 - (b) The Association may request a meeting with Human Resources to discuss the allocation of new class(es) and the salary rates applicable to the new or altered class level(s).
 - (c) Where no agreement is reached on one (1) or more of the issues listed in Subsection 10.02(b), above, the Association may submit the unresolved issue(s) to the Arbitration Board. The Association's request for a meeting to discuss one (1) or more of the issues noted above must be submitted to the Employer within ten (10) working days of the receipt of notice of the new or altered class levels affecting compensation. The Association request for adjudication of one (1) or more of the issues noted in Subsection 10.02(b), above, must be submitted to arbitration within ten (10) working days of the date on which the meeting was held to discuss the issue(s).

10.03 When the Association fails to process the matter within the time limits specified in Subsection10.02(c) the matter will be deemed to have been abandoned. Time limits under this Section may be extended by mutual agreement between the parties provided such agreement is in writing.

SECTION 11 - APPLICATION

- 11.01 This collective agreement applies to an academic staff member:
 - (a) appointed to a full-time permanent position or a full-time temporary-salaried position, or
 - (b) appointed to a part-time permanent position or part-time temporary-salaried position except, where applicable, the provisions shall be applied on a pro-rated basis, or
 - (c) appointed on a casual employment basis, subject to Subsection 11.02.
- 11.02 (a) Academic staff members hired for casual employment will qualify for the terms and conditions of this collective agreement, except that the following shall not apply;

(i)	Section 13	Position Abolishment
(ii)	Section 22	Casual Illness
(iii)	Section 23	General Illness
(iv)	Section 24	Pension Plans
(v)	Section 25	Long-Term Disability
(vi)	Section 26	Health & Wellness Plan Benefits
(vii)	Section 27	Workers' Compensation Supplement
(viii)	Section 28	Dental Plan
(ix)	Section 29	Life Insurance (except the Accidental Death and Dismemberment for Employer Business Travel shall apply)
(x)	Sections 32	Annual Vacation Leave
(xi)	Section 33	Paid Holidays
(xii)	Section 34	Special Leave
(xiii)	Section 47	Four for Five Leave

- (b) Academic staff members hired as casual employment will be paid 14.2% of gross salary in lieu of annual vacation entitlement and statutory holidays entitlement.
- (c) Academic Staff on a Casual Appointment shall receive a pro-rated portion of the applicable Section 43 Education Allowance (one twelfth) for each calendar month in which they are assigned work.

11.03 Academic staff members hired as adjunct faculty will not qualify for the terms of this collective agreement, except for Section 6, Association Membership and Dues Deduction, Section 16-Progressive Disciplinary Action, Section 17- Grievance Procedure and LOU- Adjunct Faculty.

SECTION 12 - PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

- 12.01 Professional Development is the collective responsibility of each academic staff member and the Board.
- 12.02 The Employer will maintain a Professional Development policy and a procedure for professional development funds specific to qualifying academic staff members.
- 12.03 Professional Development Definitions
 - (a) Short-term leave to attend courses, conferences, seminars and workshops that may assist academic staff members in meeting their professional responsibilities.
 - (b) Long-term leave of more than three (3) months but not exceeding twelve (12) months where an academic staff member is granted full-time leave for either industry experience or some other form of development.
- 12.04 The Employer shall contribute an amount such that \$800.00 is available over a twenty-four (24) month period for each salaried academic staff member for individual short-term professional development and shall be applied to:
 - (a) Academic staff members in permanent positions either full-time or part-time (on a prorated basis).
 - (b) Academic staff members in temporary-salaried positions either full-time or part-time (on a pro-rated basis) only after the completion of their probationary period.
- 12.05 The period pursuant to Subsection 12.04 will commence on July 1 of the year in which the academic staff member is hired:
 - (a) Hire date between July 1 and December 31, the deemed start date will be July 1 of that year.
 - (b) Hire date between January 1 and June 30, the deemed start date will be July 1 of that year.
- 12.06 Where operational requirements permit and with the approval of the Employer, leave for professional development may be granted to an academic staff member under the terms and conditions to be agreed between the academic staff member and the Employer.

SECTION 13 - POSITION ABOLISHMENT

- 13.01 Employees may have their positions abolished as a result of a decrease in enrollment in the academic staff member's area of instruction or the discontinuation or cancellation of a course or program.
- 13.02 Prior to any position abolishment, the Employer shall notify the President of the Association at least 10 days prior to any notice to impacted employees covered under this collective agreement. During this time frame, a consultation process will convene and the Association President will be provided with the specific school, number of impacted positions, reason for abolishment and rationale for abolishment.
- 13.03 Except in circumstances beyond the reasonable control of the instructional unit, the following shall be considered prior to any permanent positions in the program being impacted:
 - (a) The Employer will release Casual, Temporary-Salaried and Probationary employees;
 - (b) The use of a Voluntary process:
 - i) An academic staff member may volunteer for position abolishment. If the Parties agree, the academic staff member shall enter into an agreement to resign or retire with the provisions as outlined in Section 13.05.
 - ii) If more volunteers than positions for abolishment occur, in conjunction with skills, abilities and operational teaching requirements the final factor for consideration shall be years of service.
 - (c) Permanent full and part-time faculty.
- 13.04 The Employer shall give a permanent academic staff member three (3) months' working notice or pay in lieu of notice that the academic staff member's position is to be abolished effective immediately. In addition to such working notice or pay in lieu, the academic staff member shall receive severance pay in the amount of one (1) month pay for each full year of service to a maximum of twelve (12) months.
- 13.05 The rights as set out in Subsections 13.06 through 13.13 will be accrued by a permanent academic staff member who:
 - (a) has more than two (2) years of continuous employment immediately preceding the notice of position abolishment; and
 - (b) has not elected, in writing, to retire pursuant to 13.03(b)(i) and 13.06 or resign as outlined in 13.03(b)(i) and

- (c) has the ability to perform the duties and to assume the responsibilities of a comparable position with a comparable salary, or the potential for job training that will enable the employee to perform the duties and to assume the responsibilities of the comparable position. Positions are considered to be comparable when the academic staff member's qualifications meet the criteria of the comparable position as established by the Dean/Director/Manager, or when the academic staff member can acquire the qualifications by receiving training within the eligible period established in 13.07.
- 13.06 If eligible, the academic staff member may choose to retire pursuant to the Local Authorities Board Pension Act on the date of termination.
- 13.07 An academic staff member whose position has been abolished shall be vested with the right to be appointed to the first available comparable position through competition limited to such academic staff members, such vesting to last twelve (12) consecutive months commencing with the first day of the month following the release of the academic staff member. The Employer shall undertake to notify those academic staff members of all such available positions.
- 13.08 Throughout the application of Section 13.07 academic staff members shall be eligible for comparable positions in order of qualifications and ability, except where two (2) or more academic staff members have relatively equal qualifications and ability, they shall be eligible for positions according to years of service.
- 13.09 An academic staff member who refuses without good and satisfactory reason to accept the comparable position, with the same or a higher maximum salary as the position the academic staff member was in upon position abolishment, shall forfeit all vested rights pursuant to Section 13.07.
- 13.10 Should an academic staff member be rehired to a comparable permanent position during the twelve consecutive months following termination, the severance paid to the academic staff member under Section 13.04 shall be repaid proportionately to the Employer.
- 13.11 When probation in the comparable permanent position is unsuccessful pursuant to Subsection 13.07, the portion of the original severance pay that was repaid by the academic staff member to the Employer will be returned forthwith to the academic staff member.
- 13.12 Pursuant to Subsection 13.05(c), expenses shall be paid by the Employer in accordance with current procedures governing the Payment of Subsistence and Travel Allowances.

SECTION 14 - PROBATIONARY PERIOD

- 14.01 An academic staff member appointed to a full-time permanent or part-time permanent position or a temporary-salaried position shall serve an initial probationary period of twelve (12) months from the date of commencement. At the Employer's discretion, an additional six (6) month probationary period may be served. In such instances, the academic staff member and the Association will be notified.
- 14.02 An academic staff member who has previously been employed by the Employer may, at the discretion of the Employer, have such previous employment considered as part of the probationary period.
- 14.03 Within the first two (2) months of employment, the Dean/Director or designee (non-academic staff member) will meet with the probationary academic staff member and provide in writing an appropriate role definition, the criteria for evaluation and established expectations. Formal meetings between the two shall be held at least every six (6) months during the probationary period.
- 14.04 Within twenty (20) days of completion of the initial probationary period, the Employer shall determine that:
 - (a) the academic staff member is required to complete an additional six (6) month probationary, or
 - (b) the academic staff member shall be granted a permanent appointment if they are occupying a permanent position, or
 - (c) the academic staff member be notified that they have satisfactorily completed the probationary period, if they are occupying a temporary-salaried position. Should that temporary-salaried position be deemed a permanent position, the academic staff member shall be granted permanent status.
- 14.05 The academic staff member serving a probationary period may be dismissed at any time with one (1) month prior written notice or pay in lieu of written notice, if the probationary period is extended an additional six (6) months an additional one (1) month pay will be provided. Should the academic staff member grieve the dismissal, pay shall continue until resolution of the grievance.
- 14.06 An academic staff member hired in accordance with Subsection 13.07 or 13.08 shall serve a six (6) month probationary period. Subsection 14.03 will apply.

SECTION 15 - PERFORMANCE REVIEWS

- 15.01 The purpose of goal setting, performance planning and review is to provide positive and constructive feedback to an academic staff member. It is to assist the academic staff member to assess and enhance the employment experience and ensure goals of the Employer are achieved.
- 15.02 After completion of the probationary period, both the Employer and the academic staff member will set goals, create a professional development plan and review progress on those goals at least bi-annually. Academic Staff members should participate in the creation of both the goals and the review. This shall not be used in disciplinary or probationary review processes.
- 15.03 Professional Development Funds in Section 12 may be used to facilitate the goals set out in 15.02.
- 15.04 Performance reviews are a continuous process for academic staff members. However, at the six (6) month interval the Employer will complete an online evaluation. The evaluation will be reviewed and updated with the academic staff member. Once a year a full evaluation will be completed as outlined in Section 15.02.
- 15.05 Upon completion of 1600 contract hours, casual academic staff members may participate annually in goal setting, performance planning and review using the online performance management program to evaluate their performance.
- 15.06 All of the components of system of review will be mutually agreed to by the Parties to this agreement. Such Agreement shall not be unreasonably withheld by either Party.

SECTION 16 - PROGRESSIVE DISCIPLINARY ACTION

- 16.01 While any disciplinary process may lead to disciplinary action, the intent of progressive discipline is that the Employer is to work with the Academic staff member to ensure that there is an acceptable level of improvement to conduct or performance.
- 16.02 All aspects of the progressive disciplinary process shall be conducted in a fair, reasonable, timely and objective manner.

- 16.03 When disciplinary action is taken against an academic staff member, that academic staff member shall be informed in writing as to the reason(s) for such action. The academic staff member will be provided with a copy of all written reprimands or written notices of other disciplinary action or correspondence pertaining to the conduct or performance of the academic staff member.
- 16.04 An academic staff member who is to be interviewed on any disciplinary action shall be entitled to have an Association Representative present at the interview. The Employer shall notify the staff member, in writing, of that right in advance of the meeting and copy the Association.
- 16.05 An academic staff member who has been subjected to disciplinary action, may after twenty-four (24) months of continuous service from the date the disciplinary action was invoked, request that the member's personal file be purged of any record of the disciplinary action and if that action has not been taken it shall be deemed to have been purged provided that:
 - (a) the academic staff member's file does not contain any further record of disciplinary action relating to the same or similar offence during that twenty-four (24) month period,
 - (b) the disciplinary action is not the subject of an unresolved grievance,
 - (c) the disciplinary action was five (5) or fewer working days' suspension without pay. Disciplinary action greater than five working days' suspension shall remain on the academic staff member's file for forty- eight (48) months from the date of disciplinary action.
- 16.06 Access to an academic staff member's personal file shall be provided to the academic staff member or the member's authorized representative, upon request and within a reasonable time, once in every year and in the event of a grievance or complaint. Upon request, the academic staff member shall be allowed to have an Association Representative present at the time of such examination.
- 16.07 The personal file referred to in this section is the personal file of an academic staff member maintained by the Employer. Except as provided hereinafter, this file shall contain copies of all documentation pertaining to the academic staff member. No information pertaining to interview records, reference checks, or confidential information related to a diagnosis or prognosis concerning either academic staff member eligibility for Long-Term Disability Insurance or of an academic staff member under the Employee Assistance Program shall be contained in this file.
- 16.08 When an academic staff member has grieved a disciplinary action and a Designated Officer has either allowed the grievance or reduced the penalty levied against the grievor, the personal file of the academic staff member shall be amended to reflect this action provided

that this action results in the abandonment of the grievance. Where the grievor appeals the disciplinary action to the Arbitration Board, the award of that Board shall be final and binding upon the Employer and the academic staff member and the personal file of the academic staff member shall be amended to reflect that award.

16.09 An academic staff member may be disciplined or dismissed for just cause.

SECTION 17 - GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

17.01 A grievance is any of the following:

- (a) a difference regarding the interpretation, application, operation or contravention or alleged contravention of this collective agreement.
- (b) a complaint regarding an alleged unjust treatment or discrimination.
- (c) a complaint regarding alleged unfair working conditions.
- (d) a complaint regarding the dismissal, suspension or demotion of a probationary academic staff member
- (e) a complaint regarding any disciplinary action involving financial penalty, other than the one described in 17.01(d).

Grievances on paragraph (d) above may be heard at Levels 1 and 2. All other Grievance may be heard at Level 3 Arbitration Board.

17.02 When a grievance arises it shall be dealt with in the manner outlined in the following Subsections except that a grievance may not be presented on a matter where an appeal procedure is already provided.

17.03 Informal Discussion:

An academic staff member should first discuss the subject of the proposed grievance with the member's Academic Chair or Manager in an attempt to resolve the matter. An Association Representative may accompany and assist the academic staff member at this stage.

17.04 Grievance Procedure Format

All grievances shall be submitted in writing setting forth all of the following:

- (a) the nature of the grievance and the circumstances from which it arose.
- (b) the remedy or correction requested.
- (c) the section or sections of the collective agreement alleged to have been misapplied or violated.
- (d) a grievance shall normally be presented upon the Official Grievance Form, provided that a grievance shall not be deemed invalid by reason of the fact that it is not in accordance with the prescribed form.

17.05 Level 1:

- (a) An academic staff member who wishes to pursue a grievance and has the approval of the Association must submit it in writing to the Associate Vice President of Human Resources for conveyance to the Dean/Director at Level I within ten (10) days of the date upon which the academic staff member had the first reasonable opportunity of knowing that a grievance had allegedly occurred.
- (b) The Dean/Director at Level I shall submit a written reply to the academic staff member and the Association within ten (10) days of the receipt of the grievance by the Associate Vice President of Human Resources.

17.06 Level 2:

- (a) If a settlement is not reached at Level 1, the grievor may present the member's grievance at Level 2 of the Grievance Procedure providing that:
 - (i) the specific reason(s) for rejection of the decision at Level 1 is presented in writing, and
 - (ii) the grievor has the approval of the Association, and
 - (iii) the grievance is presented to the Associate Vice President of Human Resources for conveyance to the Designated Officer at Level 2 within five (5) days of receipt of the Employer response at Level 1.
- (b) The Designated Officer at Level 2 shall submit a written reply to the academic staff member and the Association within five (5) days of the receipt of the grievance.
- (c) In the case of a grievance concerning the dismissal, suspension or demotion of a probationary academic staff member, the decision given by the Designated Officer at this level shall be final and binding upon the academic staff member, the Association and the Employer.

17.07 Level 3: Arbitration Board

If a settlement is not reached at Level 2, and the grievance is one eligible for consideration by the Arbitration Board, the grievor may present their grievance at Level 3 of the Grievance Procedure providing that:

- (a) the specific reason(s) for rejection of the decision at Level 2 is presented in writing, and
- (b) the grievor has the approval of the Association, and
- (c) the grievance is presented to the Associate Vice President of Human Resources and the President of the Association within five (5) days of the receipt of the Employer response at Level 2.

17.08 Time Limits and Procedures

- (a) When the grievor fails to process a grievance within the time limits specified in Subsections 17.05, 17.06, 17.07 and 17.10 the grievor shall be deemed to have abandoned their grievance.
- (b) When the Designated Officer receiving a grievance fails to process the grievance within the time limits specified in Sub-sections 17.05 and 17.06 the grievor shall automatically be eligible to advance their grievance to the next higher level, except that a grievance relative to the dismissal, suspension or demotion of a probationary academic staff member is ineligible for presentation to Level 3 of the Grievance Procedure.
- (c) A grievance or a reply shall be dated the date it was delivered to the other party.
- (d) The time limits between levels or the time limits to initially file a grievance may be extended by mutual written agreement of the Associate Vice President of Human Resources and the Association.

17.09 Replies by Designated Officers:

The reply from the Designated Officer at each level of the grievance procedure shall contain the reason(s) for acceptance or denial of the grievance.

17.10 Variance from Normal Grievance Procedure:

- (a) A grievance may be initiated at Level 2 or 3 by mutual written agreement of the Associate Vice President of Human Resources and the Association.
- (b) A complaint alleging sexual harassment may be presented in the form of a grievance directly to Level 2.
- (c) A grievance arising from the demotion, suspension or dismissal of an academic staff member shall be presented initially at Level 2 of the Grievance Procedure unless agreed to otherwise as per Subsection 17.10(a). Such grievance must be submitted by the academic staff member within five (5) days of receipt of the written communication notifying them of the demotion, suspension or dismissal.

17.11 Meetings during the Grievance Procedure:

- (a) Grievance or proposed grievance discussions between academic staff members and association representatives will normally take place outside of regularly scheduled instructional hours.
- (b) An academic staff member or an association representative must obtain prior written permission of the immediate supervisors involved in order to discuss a grievance or proposed grievance during regularly scheduled instructional hours.

17.12 Arbitration Board Structure:

- (a) The notice to refer the matter to the Arbitration Board shall contain the grievance in the form set forth in Subsection 17.04 with the name of their Appointee to the Arbitration Board.
- (b) The Employer and the Association shall have the option of mutually referring a grievance eligible for consideration by the Arbitration Board to a single arbitrator who shall be the Arbitration Board.
- (c) Within ten (10) days, the recipient shall inform the other party of its Appointee to the Arbitration Board. The two appointees so selected shall, within ten (10) days of the naming of the second of them, choose a third member who shall be Chairman of the Arbitration Board.
- (d) If either party fails to name their Appointee within the period specified, the Chairman of the Labour Relations Board of Alberta shall choose their nominee. If the two Appointees fail to choose a third member within the period specified, the Chairman of the Labour Relations Board of Alberta shall choose a third member who shall be Chairman of the Arbitration Board.
- (e) The Employer and the Association Appointee to the Arbitration Board shall not be an academic staff member in the Department involved in the grievance nor an employee of the Human Resources Department of the Employer.
- (f) The Employer and the Association shall each bear the total costs of its appointee to the Arbitration Board and shall share equally the total costs of the Chairman of the Board.
- (g) The Employer shall grant the grievor leave of absence with pay for the purpose of attending the Board hearing of their grievance.
- (h) The Employer shall grant leave of absence to attend the Arbitration Board hearing:
 - (i) with pay for witnesses who are academic staff members of the Employer and who are called by the grievor, and
 - (ii) without pay for the Association-appointed member of the Arbitration Board, if employed by the Employer.

- (i) To facilitate the administration of Subsection17.12(h) (ii), of this Section, the Employer will grant the leave of absence with pay and invoice the Association for the total costs incurred.
- (j) The expenses of necessary witnesses called by the Chairman of the Arbitration Board shall be shared on an equal basis by the Employer and the Association.

17.13 Powers of the Arbitration Board:

- (a) The Arbitration Board shall neither add to, detract from, nor modify the language of any section of the collective agreement.
- (b) The Board shall expressly confine itself in its award to the precise issue submitted to the Arbitration Board and shall have no authority to make a decision on any other issue not so submitted to it.
- (c) Where disciplinary action against an academic staff member is involved, the Arbitration Board may vary the penalty as the Board considers fair and reasonable.
 - (i) may accept any oral or written evidence that it, in its discretion, considers proper whether admissible in a court of law or not,
 - (ii) is not bound by the law of evidence applicable to judicial proceedings, and
 - (iii) may summon and enforce the attendance of witnesses and compel them to give oral or written evidence on oath and to produce the documents and things that the Arbitration Board considers requisite to the full investigation and consideration of matters within their or its jurisdiction in the same manner as a court of record in civil cases.
- (d) If any person fails to comply with an order of an Arbitration Board under Subsection 17.13(c)(iii), or conducts themselves in a manner that may be in contempt of the Arbitration Board or their or its proceedings, the Arbitration Board may apply to the court for an order directing compliance with the order of the Arbitration Board or restraining any conduct found by the court to be in contempt of the Arbitration Board or their or its proceedings.
- (e) The Arbitration Board may correct in any award any clerical mistake, error, or omission.

17.14 Arbitration Board Procedures:

- (a) Within ten (10) days or as soon as reasonably possible upon receipt of a grievance the Chairman shall convene an Arbitration Board and advise the Employer and the Association of the hearing date.
- (b) At the Arbitration Board hearing, the Employer and the Association may be represented by any person(s) they so designate.
- (c) Where a grievance is heard by a three (3) member Arbitration Board, the decision of the majority of the members is the award of the Arbitration Board, but if there is no majority,

a decision of the Chairman governs and their decision is the award of the Arbitration Board.

- (d) The Chairman shall submit a report on the findings and the decision of the Arbitration Board, within thirty (30) days or as soon as reasonably possible following the completion of the hearing to:
 - (i) the President of the Institute
 - (ii) the President of the Association
 - (iii) the grievor, and
 - (iv) the Associate Vice President of Human Resources.

17.15 Decision of the Board:

The decision of the Arbitration Board shall be final and binding on the Employer, the Association and on all academic staff members affected by the collective agreement.

17.16 Policy Grievances:

A policy grievance may be initiated in writing by the President of the Association or by the President and CEO of SAIT, when

- (a) seeking to enforce an obligation that is alleged to arise out of this collective agreement, and
- (b) the alleged obligation is not, at the same time, the subject of a grievance of an academic staff member.

The parties shall meet in an attempt to resolve the grievance. Failure to resolve the grievance within fifteen (15) days of filing shall entitle the grievor to advance the grievance to Level 3 within an additional ten (10) days in accordance with Subsection 17.12 to 17.15 inclusive.

17.17 Group Grievances:

- (a) A group of academic staff members may initiate a group grievance provided they all are grieving the identical issue. All grievors must sign the initial grievance form.
- (b) Grievances initiated by more than one grievor and meeting the above criteria shall be dealt with in accordance with Sub-sections 17.01 to 17.15 inclusive.
- (c) The Employer will be notified in writing of any withdrawal of an individual academic staff member from the group grievance. The withdrawal of an individual academic staff member does not jeopardize the position of the remaining grievors.

SECTION 18 - EMPLOYMENT INSURANCE REBATE

- 18.01 The Employer shall retain the full amount of any premium reduction or rebate allowable on employment insurance by the Employment Insurance Commission which is granted as a result of the benefits covering academic staff members.
- 18.02 The premium reduction or rebate shall be recognized as the academic staff member's contribution towards the benefits provided.

SECTION 19 - SAFETY AND HEALTH

- 19.01 The Employer and the Association agree to participate in the SAIT Occupational Health and Safety Program and are subject to the *Occupational Health and Safety Act, Code and Regulations* thereto.
- 19.02 The Employer and the Association shall participate in a Joint Worksite Health and Safety Committee.

SECTION 20 - SUPPLIES, EQUIPMENT & INSTRUCTIONAL MATERIALS

20.01 The Employer in consultation with academic staff members shall make available to all academic staff members the books, texts, software and other instructional materials deemed by the Employer to be necessary to the performance of their duties.

SECTION 21 - PROTECTIVE CLOTHING

- 21.01 Where the Employer determines that uniforms, coveralls, smocks, or other such items should be provided for the protection of the academic staff member's personal garments, such items shall be provided, cleaned and replaced upon written authorization by the Employer.
- 21.02 Protective clothing and safety equipment shall be supplied by the Employer as required by the *Occupational Health and Safety Act, Regulation and Code* including the Regulations thereto.

SECTION 22 - CASUAL ILLNESS

- 22.01 "Casual Illness" means an illness which causes an academic staff member to be absent from duty for a period of three (3) consecutive work days or less.
- 22.02 An academic staff member may have time off for the purpose of attending a dental, physiotherapeutic, optical or medical appointment, that is not charged against Casual Illness nor deducted from the member's pay provided:
 - (a) the member has been given prior authorization by the Dean/Director or designee (non-academic staff member), and
 - (b) the member works one (1) hour in a half day absence. A half-day absence is a consecutive four (4) hour period of time prior to or after the mid-point of the academic staff member's work day.
- 22.03 An academic staff member in their first and in each subsequent year of employment shall be eligible for a maximum of ten (10) work days of Casual Illness leave with pay. Each day or portion of a day of Casual Illness used, within a year of service, shall be deducted from the remaining Casual Illness leave entitlement for that year of service.
- 22.04 This Section is subject to Section 23.05.

SECTION 23 - GENERAL ILLNESS

- 23.01 "General Illness" means an illness which causes an academic staff member to be absent from duty for a period of more than three (3) consecutive work days but shall not exceed one hundred and twenty days (120) consecutive work days. General Illness leave shall be in addition to any Casual Illness leave entitlements specified in Section 22.
- 23.02 An academic staff member at the commencement of each year of employment shall be entitled to General Illness leave at the specified rates of pay in accordance with the following Sub-sections, and application of such General Illness leave shall be as set out in accordance with Subsection 23.03:
 - (a) illness commencing in the first month within the first year of employment; no salary for each of the first ten (10) work days of illness and thereafter 70% of normal salary for one hundred and ten (110) work days of illness.
 - (b) illness commencing in the first year of employment, but following the first month of employment; 100% of normal salary for each of the first ten (10) work days of illness and 70% of normal salary for each of the next one hundred and ten (110) work days of illness.

- (c) illness commencing in the second year of employment; 100% of normal salary for each of the first fifteen (15) work days of illness and 70% of normal salary for each of the next one hundred and five (105) work days of illness.
- (d) illness commencing in the third year of employment; 100% of normal salary for each of the first twenty-five (25) work days of illness and 70% of normal salary for each of the next ninety-five (95) work days of illness.
- (e) illness commencing in the fourth year of employment; 100% of normal salary for each of the first thirty-five (35) work days of illness and 70% of normal salary for each of the next eighty-five (85) work days of illness.
- (f) illness commencing in the fifth year of employment; 100% of normal salary for each of the first forty-five (45) work days of illness and 70% of normal salary for each of the next seventy-five (75) work days of illness.
- (g) illness commencing in the sixth or any subsequent years of employment; 100% of normal salary for each of the first sixty (60) work days of illness and 70% of normal salary for each of the next sixty (60) days of illness.
- (h) for the purposes of Subsection 23.02 "employment" includes salaried employment and also any prior employment as "casual employment" provided there is no break in service.
- 23.03 (a) Subject to Subsection 23.03 (b), an academic staff member upon return to active work after a period of General Illness of less than one hundred and twenty (120) consecutive work days will have any illness leave days used for which normal salary was paid at the rate of 100%, reinstated for future use at the rate of 70% of normal salary, within the same year of employment. General Illness leave days used for which normal salary was paid at the rate of 70% shall reinstated for future use within the same year of employment, at the rate of 70% normal salary.
 - (b) Such reinstatement shall only occur where an academic staff member has not taken any General Illness leave for the same or related illness during the first ten (10) consecutive work days following the date of return to active work.
- 23.04 For purposes of this Section, the maximum period of continuous absence recognized shall be one-hundred twenty (120) consecutive work days. Absences due to illness or disability in excess of that period shall be subject to Section 25.
- 23.05 The academic staff member may be required to submit a satisfactory medical certificate to SAIT's provider in the event of an illness/injury when circumstances make it reasonable to do so for any absence under this Section over ten (10) days.
- 23.06 The Employer may require that an academic staff member be examined by a Medical Panel:
 - (a) in the case of a prolonged or frequent absence as a result of general illness, or

- (b) when it is considered that an academic staff member is unable to satisfactorily perform regular duties due to disability or illness, or
- (c) where there is indication of apparent misuse of General Illness Leave.

The report of the Medical Panel to the Employer shall be limited to the conclusions and recommendations of the Panel and the medical information leading to those conclusions and recommendations.

- 23.07 Pursuant to 23.06, an academic staff member shall be entitled to have their personal physician or other physician of their choice to act as counsel before the medical panel. Expenses incurred under this Clause shall be paid by the Employer. A copy of the medical panel report shall be sent to the academic staff member's physician.
- 23.08 The parties agree that Casual Illness and General Illness benefits as provided in Sections 22 and 23 are intended only for the purpose of protecting an academic staff member from loss of income when the academic staff member is ill/injured.
- 23.09 The parties agree that Casual Illness and General Illness benefits as provided under Sections 22 and 23 are entitlements for which an academic staff member is not entitled while on leave of absence without pay or after termination of employment.
- 23.10 When a day designated as a paid holiday under Section 33 falls within a period of General Illness it shall be counted as a day of General Illness and under no circumstances shall an academic staff member receive any additional entitlement in respect of that day.

SECTION 24 - PENSION PLANS

24.01 All academic staff members in salaried positions shall participate in the Local Authorities Pension Plan.

SECTION 25 – LONG-TERM DISABILITY (LTD)

25.01 The eligibility of an academic staff member to participate in one of the Employer's Long-Term Disability (LTD) Plans is subject to Section 11 and all eligible academic staff members shall be covered in accordance with the provisions of the Plan.

25.02

(a) For those academic staff members employed prior to July 1, 2007, the Employer shall pay the total cost of providing the LTD benefit to all eligible academic staff members covered

- under the Standard Benefit plan, subject to Section 18. This LTD benefit is taxable as per Revenue Canada.
- (b) For those academic staff members commencing employment on or after July 1, 2007 and who are eligible to join the 'Enhanced' Benefit Plan, subject to Section 18, the academic staff member shall pay the total cost of the LTD benefit. This LTD benefit is non-taxable when accessed as per Revenue Canada.
- 25.03 An eligible academic staff member who becomes ill or disabled and who, as a result of such illness or disability is absent from work for a period of one-hundred twenty (120) consecutive work days, may apply for long term disability benefits as provided under the applicable LTD Plan. The final ruling as to whether or not the claimant's disability is of a nature which qualifies the claimant for benefits within the interpretation of the provisions of the Plan shall be made by the carrier (insurance company).

25.04

- (a) Long-Term Disability benefits payable under the provisions of the LTD Plan pursuant to 25.02(a) will entitle an academic staff member with a qualifying disability to a total income, from sources specified under Subsection 25.05, of not less than seventy percent (70%) of monthly salary received or entitled to receive as an academic staff member at the time of commencement of absence pursuant to Subsection 25.03, up to a maximum benefit of \$4000 per month.
- (b) Long-Term Disability benefits payable under the provisions of the LTD Plan pursuant to 25.02(b) will entitle an academic staff member with a qualifying disability to a total income, from sources under Subsection 25.05, of not less than sixty-six and two thirds percent (66 2/3%) of monthly salary received or entitled to receive as an academic staff member at the time of commencement of absence pursuant to Subsection 25.03, up to a maximum benefit of \$6,500 per month.
- 25.05 The monthly LTD benefit amount to which an academic staff member is entitled, shall be reduced by:
 - (a) the amount of disability benefit entitlement, excluding children's benefits, under the Canada Pension Plan,
 - (b) the amount of Workers' Compensation entitlement,
 - (c) the amount of benefits payable from any other group disability plan(s) sponsored by the Employer,
 - (d) vacation leave pay,
 - (e) the amount of any other remuneration received as a result of employment or selfemployment unless subject to Subsection 25.06.

25.06

- (a) An academic staff member who, after qualifying for LTD benefits, returns to work or enters a recognized training program and the resulting income received is less than the monthly salary in effect immediately prior to the commencement of absence pursuant to Subsection 25.03 (pre-disability salary), the academic staff member shall have the monthly LTD benefit payable by the Plan reduced by fifty percent (50%) of the income received, provided that the combination of reduced LTD benefit and income does not exceed the pre-disability salary.
- (b) Where the combination of reduced LTD benefits and income received pursuant to Subsection 25.06 is a higher amount than the pre-disability salary, the LTD benefits shall be reduced further so that LTD benefits and income received equal one hundred percent (100%) of the pre-disability salary.
- 25.07 An academic staff member who receives LTD benefits and who at the commencement of absence, due to disability or illness, is participating in the Employer Group Life Insurance Plan, Dental Plan, Extended Health Care Plan and Accidental Death and Dismemberment Plan, shall continue to be covered under these Plans throughout the total period the academic staff member is receiving LTD benefits and the Employer and academic staff member premium contributions, if applicable, shall continue. The Employer shall also pay the academic staff member and Employer contributions to the Local Authorities Pension Plan, if applicable.
- 25.08 The LTD benefits applicable to academic staff members covered by this collective agreement shall not be altered except through negotiation by the parties to this agreement.

SECTION 26 - HEALTH & WELLNESS PLAN BENEFITS

26.01 Academic staff members who are enrolled in the Standard Benefit Plan are eligible to join the Enhanced Benefit Plan (at the commencement of each benefit year) which includes the employee paid long-term disability plan; however, there will be no reversion rights to the Standard Benefit Plan.

26.02

(a) Standard Benefit Plan – Employer Paid LTD pursuant to 25.02(a)

Subject to Section 11, the Employer shall share the monthly premium cost of the SAIT Employees' Extended Health Care Plan for participating employees as follows:

- (i) one-half (1/2) the cost of the family premium where the employee and their family are covered under the Plan, or
- (ii) one-half (1/2) the cost of the single premium where only the employee is covered under the Plan.
- (b) Enhanced Benefit Plan Employee Paid LTD pursuant to 25.02(b)
 Subject to Section 11, the Employer shall pay the monthly premium cost of the SAIT Employees' Extended Health Care Plan for participating employees.
- 26.03 An academic staff member on the Employer's business outside of Canada who becomes ill and requires medical attention and/or hospitalization shall be reimbursed, upon production of receipts, for such charges that are in excess of those allowed by the Alberta Health Care Insurance and the Extended Health Care Insurance Plan with the current plan or a comparable plan.
- 26.04 An annual Health Spending Account (HSA) will be implemented in the amount of \$850 per benefit year (July 1 to June 30), beginning July 1, 2025, per academic staff member participating in either the Standard Extended Health Care Benefit Plan or the Enhanced Extended Health Care Benefit Plan. There will be no carryover of this amount into subsequent years. Eligible expenses are those that qualify as a medical expense tax credit under the *Income Tax Act* that includes items such as prescription eyeglasses, dental expenses, medical devices and supplies, prescription drugs, and services of paramedical practitioners as per Revenue Canada.
- 26.05 An outline of the applicable Extended Health Care Plan (Standard or Enhanced) shall be detailed in the Employee Information handbook.
- 26.06 The Employer shall provide the Association an annual report of the types of coverage and costs of all existing benefit plans available to Association members. The Association shall also be advised in the event of a change in coverage or costs.

SECTION 27 - WORKERS' COMPENSATION SUPPLEMENT

27.01 Subject to Section 11 if an academic staff member sustains an injury in the course of duties with the Employer which causes the member to be absent from work, and as a result is eligible to receive Workers' Compensation, they shall be paid their regular full salary for the periods outlined hereunder:

Terms of Employment	Eligibility Period
Up to and including five (5) years	60 days
Six (6) to ten (10) years	90 days
More than ten (10) years	120 days

- 27.02 If the academic staff member has not returned to work due to injury when the member's eligibility period has expired, they shall then be paid according to the rate prescribed by the *Workers' Compensation Act* and shall be paid any benefit to which the academic staff member might be entitled under the provisions of the Long-Term Disability Plan.
- 27.03 The eligibility period specified in Subsection 27.01 shall not apply in the event of a reoccurrence of a disability due to previously claimed injury, payable under this supplement, unless the academic staff member has not used the total eligibility period in which case the unexpended period of eligibility may be applied.
- 27.04 When a day designated as a paid holiday under Section 33, falls within a period of time an academic staff member is eligible to receive Workers' Compensation Supplement, it shall be counted as a day of Workers' Compensation Supplement, and under no circumstances shall an academic staff member receive any additional entitlement in respect of that day.
- 27.05 An academic staff member who is injured on the job during working hours and who is required to leave the job site for treatment, or is sent home as a result of such accident or injury, shall not suffer loss of pay for that day's work, regardless of the time of injury. That day shall not be deducted from the eligibility period specified in Subsection 27.01.

SECTION 28 - DENTAL PLAN

28.01 The Employer will maintain a Dental Plan (Standard or Enhanced) for academic staff members and their eligible dependents as governed by the Dental Plan Document. The Employer shall provide the Association with a copy of the Dental Plan Document. An outline of the Dental Plan shall be detailed in the employee information handbook.

SECTION 29 LIFE INSURANCE & ACCIDENTAL DEATH AND DISMEMBERMENT PLAN

- 29.01 Group Life, Accidental Death and Dismemberment, Dependent's Life.
 - (a) The eligibility of academic staff members to participate in the Group Life Insurance Plan is subject to Section 11, and participation is a condition of employment for all eligible academic staff members.
 - (b) The amount of Basic Group Life Insurance for an eligible academic staff member is equivalent, at the academic staff member's option, to either:
 - (i) Standard Benefit Plan
 - (1) 1.0 times basic annual salary, rounded to the next highest \$1,000.00 up to a maximum amount of insurance of \$50,000.00, or
 - (2) 3.0 times basic annual salary, rounded to the next highest \$1,000.00 up to a maximum amount of insurance of \$100,000.00.
 - (ii) Enhanced Benefit Plan
 - (1) 2.0 times basic annual salary, rounded to the next highest \$1,000.00 up to a maximum amount of insurance of \$750,000.00.
 - (c) Each academic staff member insured for Basic Group Life Insurance under Subsection 29.01(b), shall also be covered for an additional amount of insurance in the event of accidental death or dismemberment, with a principal sum equivalent to the academic staff member's amount of Basic Group Life Insurance.
 - (d) The Employer and academic staff member shall share the monthly premium costs where an academic staff member is covered for the insurance pursuant to Subsection 29.01(b) (i) for the Standard Benefit Plan and Subsection 29.01(c) above as follows:
 - (i) academic staff member pays fourteen (14) cents per \$1,000.00 coverage.
 - (ii) the Employer pays the balance of the premium.
 - (e) The Employer shall pay the monthly premium costs where an academic staff member is covered for the insurance pursuant to Subsection 29.01(b)(ii) for the Enhanced Benefit Plan and Subsection 29.01(c) above.
 - (f) The Employer shall administer a policy of optional Dependent's Life Insurance and the entire premium shall be paid by each eligible academic staff member opting for such coverage.
 - (g) The Employer shall administer a policy of optional Life Insurance for those academic staff members and/or spouse in the Enhanced Benefit Plan and the entire premium shall be paid by each eligible academic staff member opting for such coverage.

- (h) All insurance coverage specified under Subsection 29.01 shall be in accordance with the terms and conditions contained in a policy of insurance of which the Employer is the policyholder. The Association shall be provided with a copy of the policy of insurance and any amendments to the policy.
- 29.02 Employer Business Travel Accidental Death and Dismemberment Insurance
 - (a) The Employer shall maintain a Master Insurance Policy for all academic staff members covered by this collective agreement that provides insurance coverage "of 4 x annual salary" to a maximum principal sum of \$200,000.00 in the event of accidental death or dismemberment resulting from injury occurring while traveling on Employer business except that benefits under this policy shall be reduced by the amount of insurance benefits paid or payable pursuant to the insurance coverage under Subsection 29.01(c).
 - (b) The total premium cost of this Master Insurance Policy shall be paid by the Employer.
 - (c) Coverage provided shall be in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Master Policy of Insurance of which the Employer is the policy holder. The Employer shall provide the Association with a copy of the policy and any letter of intent issued by the Insurer.
- 29.03 The Employer shall provide general liability insurance coverage for all academic staff members covered by this collective agreement while engaged in the scope of their regular work duties. Coverage provided will be in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Master Comprehensive General Liability Policy of which the Employer is the policy holder.

SECTION 30 - ATTENDANCE AND RESIGNATION

- 30.01 An academic staff member who is absent from duty without prior authorization shall communicate daily the reason for their absence to their Dean/Director or designee (non-academic staff member) at their place of work prior to the commencement of a scheduled work period.
- 30.02 An academic staff member on authorized leave of absence and/or illness for an indeterminate period, shall notify their Dean/Director or designee (non-academic staff member) of their intention to return to work the preceding work day.
- 30.03 Time limits, pursuant to Sub-sections 30.01 or 30.02, shall be waived when it can be established that the academic staff member, for acceptable reasons, was unable to contact their Dean/Director or designee (non-academic staff member) within the time limits specified.

- 30.04 (a) A permanent academic staff member in the Faculty classification is required to provide the Employer with six (6) weeks prior written notice of resignation if they wish to resign in good standing. For each calendar week, or fraction thereof, that the written notice falls short of six (6) weeks, the academic staff member shall pay to the Employer, as liquidated damages, one (1) day's pay.
 - (b) A probationary academic staff member in the Faculty classification is required to provide the Employer with two (2) weeks prior written notice of resignation if they wish to resign in good standing.
 - (c) A permanent or probationary academic staff member in a classification other than the Faculty classification is required to provide the Employer with ten (10) work days prior written notice of resignation if they wish to resign in good standing. For each work day, or fraction thereof, that the written notice falls short of ten (10) days the academic staff member shall pay to the Employer, as liquidated damages, one-half (1/2) day's pay.
 - (d) An academic staff member occupying a temporary-salaried position, after the completion of the probationary period, is required to provide the Employer with ten (10) work days' written notice if they wish to resign in good standing.
- An academic staff member who is absent from their employment and who has not informed the Employer shall after three (3) consecutive work days of such unauthorized absence be considered to have abandoned their position and will be deemed to have resigned, unless it is subsequently shown by the academic staff member that special circumstances prevented them from reporting to their place of work.

SECTION 31 - HOURS OF WORK

31.01 The normal hours of work for academic staff members in the Faculty category shall not exceed 37.5 hours per week or the equivalent on a monthly or annual basis and for academic staff members in the Librarians and Educational Counsellors categories shall not exceed 36 1/4 hours per week or the equivalent on a monthly or annual basis.

HOURS OF WORK - LIBRARIANS

- 31.02 (a) The provisions of this Subsection (31.02) will apply to those academic staff members in the Librarian Class Series and sets forth terms and conditions of employment to be observed where the Employer utilizes any form of modified or flexible system of hours of work.
 - (b) The parties agree that the Employer may implement a flextime or modified work week system of hours of work, except that participation by an academic staff member in these systems of hours of work shall be voluntary.
 - (c) The Employer has the sole right to determine the number of academic staff members who are required to be at work. However, upon entering into a flextime system, the academic

- staff members are entitled to have the first opportunity to plan their work schedule whereby they may arrange their starting times, lunch periods and finishing times on a daily basis, in keeping with the Employer's operational requirements. Academic staff members shall have the opportunity to make up time lost during the flex period due to late arrival, subject to the approval of the Employer.
- (d) An academic staff member participating in a flextime system of hours of work will be allowed a ten (10) hour carry over, either in the way of a bank or a deficit, and regular monthly salary shall be paid provided the academic staff member's time is within these limits and the variance is approved by the Employer. An academic staff member may not accumulate a bank in excess of ten (10) hours, and if at the end of any month the member's deficit is more than ten (10) hours, they shall be deducted for those hours that are in excess of ten (10) hours. Hours shall not be banked unless the academic staff member has actually worked more than normal daily hours.
- (e) The banked hours may be taken, as time off with pay in subsequent months; however, the maximum time taken within a two (2) working day period shall not exceed 7 1/4 hours. Academic staff member preference in this regard shall be honoured where possible. However, when a full day is requested it shall not be taken in conjunction with a Paid Holiday listed in Section 33.
- (f) Authorized overtime hours worked outside of flex or core times may not be used to cover off deficits pursuant to Subsection 31.02 (d) above.
- (g) In the event the flextime or modified work week system of hours of work does not result in the provision of a satisfactory service to the public, or is deemed by the Employer to be impractical for other reasons, the Employer may require a return to regular times of work in which case the academic staff members shall be provided advance notice of one (1) month.
- (h) An academic staff member who is working according to a flexible or modified work system may opt for regular times of work by providing the Employer advance notice of one (1) week.
- (i) Academic staff members working according to a modified work week system of hours of work will have all benefits and entitlements pro-rated accordingly and there shall be no loss or gain in academic staff member entitlements.
- (j) Where applicable these provisions shall have force and effect in lieu of Sections 30 and 45 of this collective agreement.

SECTION 32 - ANNUAL VACATION LEAVE

- 32.01 (a) For the purpose of this section, a full calendar year is twelve (12) months from July 1 to June 30.
 - (b) An academic staff member eligible for an annual vacation leave shall receive their yearly allotment of forty-three (43) work days of vacation on July 1 in the electronic system of record, expressed in the system as 322.50 hours for those on a 37.5-hour schedule, and as 311.75 hours for those on a 36.25-hour schedule.
 - (c) Upon commencement of the first year of employment, an academic staff member shall be eligible for a number of work days of vacation leave calculated as three and one-half (3.5) work days of vacation for each full calendar month worked from the commencement of employment to July 1. When employment has commenced on or before the fifteenth (15th) day of any month, vacation entitlements shall be earned from the first (1st) day of that month. When employment has commenced on or after the sixteenth (16th) day of any month, vacation entitlements, shall be earned from the first day of the following month.
- 32.02 An academic staff member will be paid for any vacation earned but not taken at the time of termination.
- 32.03 An academic staff member shall not be required to use vacation days for in-service training and other professional development activities except by mutual written agreement.
- 32.04 If a paid holiday falls during an academic staff member's annual vacation period, the academic staff member shall be granted an equivalent day of vacation.
- 32.05 An academic staff member shall earn vacation leave pursuant to Subsection 32.01 when on authorized financially assisted Educational Leave.
- 32.06 An academic staff member shall accrue nine (9) days of vacation for the first forty-five (45) consecutive work days of sick leave or Workers' Compensation.
- 32.07 Leave shall be taken at such time(s) as may be approved by the Employer. Where possible, leave will consist of a block of consecutive days and shall consist of a minimum of twenty (20) consecutive work days. A combination of vacation and work days throughout the work week or half day increments may only be used at the academic staff members' request.
- 32.08 Scheduling of the annual vacation leave will be discussed, at a minimum, annually between the academic staff member and their Academic Chair / Leader. A mutually agreed upon documented plan to take any currently banked Annual Vacation Leave during the period of

- July 1 to June 30 will be the outcome from this meeting. Once a plan has been achieved, it cannot be changed without written mutual agreement.
- 32.09 A maximum of five (5) vacation days may be carried forward to the next vacation year. In circumstances where carry over exceeds five days the Academic Staff member must work with their Academic Chair/Leader to create a plan to ensure the excessive days are taken in the next year.
- 32.10 No vacation leave entitlement shall be earned while on foreign secondment.
- 32.11 It is expected that academic staff shall record used vacation days in the electronic system of record.
- 32.12 When an academic staff member is allowed to take any leave of absence, other than sick leave, in conjunction with a period of vacation leave, the vacation leave shall be deemed to precede the additional leave of absence, except in the case of maternity leave which may be authorized before or after vacation leave.

SECTION 33 - PAID HOLIDAYS

33.01 Academic staff members are entitled to one (1) day's paid leave for each of the following holidays:

(a) New Year's Day Labour Day

Family Day Thanksgiving Day
Good Friday Remembrance Day

Easter Monday Christmas Day Victoria Day Boxing Day

Canada Day Christmas Float Holiday

Civic Holiday

- (b) The Christmas float holiday for academic staff members under this agreement will be observed in accordance with Section 38.
- 33.02 When a day designated as a holiday under Subsection 33.01 falls on an academic staff member's regularly scheduled work day, and an academic staff member is not required to work, the academic staff member shall be granted holiday leave on that day.
- 33.03 When a day designated as a holiday under Subsection 33.01 falls on an academic staff member's regularly scheduled day of rest, and the academic staff member is not required to work, the academic staff member shall be granted holiday leave on the alternate day observed as the holiday.
- 33.04 When an academic staff member is required to work on the day observed as the holiday, the academic staff member shall receive:
 - (a) pay at the overtime rate for the hours worked, pursuant to Section 45, and
 - (b) one (1) day off in lieu with pay at the member's regular rate.
- 33.05 When a day off in lieu is granted under Subsection 33.04(b) it shall be scheduled at a time mutually agreeable to the academic staff member and Employer within the fiscal year or paid in cash at the expiration of the fiscal year.
- 33.06 Requests for leave without pay on religious holidays will be considered, provided adequate notice of the request is given.
- 33.07 An academic staff member will not be entitled to paid leave when absent from their employment without the consent of the Employer on the academic staff member's last

regular working day preceding or the academic staff member's first regular working day following a Paid Holiday.

SECTION 34 - SPECIAL LEAVE

34.01 An academic staff member, not on leave of absence without pay, shall be granted upon application, special leave at the member's basic rate of pay.

Bereavement/Family Illness

The maximum length specified for each circumstance requiring use of bereavement/family illness special leave shall not exceed ten (10) working days per calendar year unless additional special leave is approved by the Employer:

- (a) illness within the immediate family,
- (b) bereavement,
- (c) travel time for illness within the immediate family or bereavement,

For purposes of determining eligibility for special leave under Subsection 34.01, the following provisions shall apply:

- (a) illness within the immediate family leave of absence shall be granted for the purpose of making arrangements for the care of the person that is ill or for the care of the children. Immediate family shall mean: parents, step-parents, legal guardian, spouse/partner (including common-law spouse/partner), child, step-child, grandparents;
- (b) bereavement leave of absence will be granted in the event of the death of the academic staff member's spouse (including common-law spouse/partner), or any of the following relations of an academic staff member or spouse (including common-law spouse/partner), parents, child, guardian, parent-in-law, grandparent, grandchild, sibling, or the spouse/partner of any of them;
- (c) travel time for illness within the immediate family or for bereavement shall mean for travel where long distances or from isolated areas are involved;

34.02 Managing Life

The maximum length specified for each circumstance requiring use of managing life special leave shall not exceed two (2) working days per calendar year:

- (a) administration of estate,
- (b) moving household effects,
- (c) disaster conditions,
- (d) attend funerals as pall-bearer or mourner,

- (e) be present at birth or adoption proceedings of an academic staff member's child,
- (f) attend formal hearing to become Canadian Citizen.

For purposes of determining eligibility for special leave under Subsection 34.02, the following provisions shall apply:

- (a) administration of estate shall apply only when an academic staff member has been designated as an executor of the estate for the deceased;
- (b) moving of household effects shall apply to an academic staff member who maintains a self-contained household and who changes their place of residence which necessitates moving household effects during normal working hours;
- (c) disaster conditions shall apply for a critical condition which requires an academic staff member's personal attention in a disaster (flood, fire) which cannot be served by others or attended to by the academic staff member at a time when they are normally off duty.
- (d) mourner leave of absence will be granted where operational requirements permit, subject to the approval of the Employer.

Two (2) weeks' notice may be required for leave requested under Subsection 34.02, (a) and (b).

- 34.03 The maximum length specified for the combined circumstance in Section 34.01 and Section 34.02 above shall not exceed ten (10) working days in a calendar year.
- 34.03 The maximum length specified for each circumstance requiring use of exam special leave shall not exceed the following:
 - (a) write examination(s) for course(s) approved by the Employer as required.

Two (2) weeks' notice may be required for leave requested under Subsection 34.03.

PERSONAL LEAVE

34.04 The maximum length specified for each circumstance requiring use of personal leave shall not exceed two (2) working days per calendar year. The use of personal leave does not combine with leaves outlined in Section 34.01 and Section 34.02. Personal leave may require (2) two weeks' notice and shall not require a detailed explanation for the leave.

SECTION 35 - REPORTING

- 35.01 By July 31 of each year the Employer shall provide the Association for the previous academic year:
 - (a) The total number of Class Contact Hours taught for approved programming. Approved programming is defined in Section 1.01w.
 - (b) Based on the total hours calculated in (a) and (b) above, the total number of full-time equivalent positions involved in that instruction.
 - (c) A figure calculated at 83% of the full-time equivalent positions referred to in (b) above.
 - (d) The total number of permanent faculty positions currently occupied, both full -time and part-time, calculated as full-time equivalents.
- 35.02 Should the number of permanent positions currently occupied be lower than the 83% figure calculated in 35.01(d) the Employer shall present the Association with a plan to be used in the current academic year to ensure that the permanent workforce will be increased to reach the agreed 83%. For the purpose of these calculations, employees off on long-term disability for in excess of two years will not be counted as occupying a permanent position.
- 35.03 The Employer shall provide, within thirty (30) days of the end of the Semester, a report of the total number of full-time equivalent positions based on total instruction hours of adjunct faculty and independent contractors in 35.01(a).
- 35.04 Prior to July 31 of each academic year, the Employer shall provide the Association with the number of overload hours for the previous academic year for each academic department.
- 35.05 Hours in non-approved programming are not included for the purposes of this Section.

SECTION 36 - WORKLOADS - FACULTY

- 36.01 The provisions of this section shall apply only to academic staff members in the faculty class series.
- 36.02 Faculty workload is based on three components and will be assigned by the Dean or designee (non-academic staff member) in accordance with the governing principles found in the Faculty Workload Guidelines document. Workload includes Class Contact Hours (Section 36.03), Class Management Activities (CMA), and Professional Duties as defined in Faculty Workload Guidelines, in consultation with the faculty. After being assigned, no change to the class contact hours of an instructor will be made arbitrarily.

- (a) Should a faculty be not in agreement with the workload assignment, the faculty will have access to the Workload Complaint Process that is found in the Faculty Workload Guidelines document.
- (b) Faculty Workload Guidelines will be reviewed at least annually, by a committee formed by an equal number of appointed academic staff members and non-academic staff members. Changes must be mutually agreed upon by both parties.
- 36.03 Class Contact Hours are defined as hours spent instructing and/or supervising students in the classroom (physical or online), lab, shop or on practicum. The assigned Class Contact Hours are determined through each faculty's course loading. The class contact hours for faculty in an instructional unit during an academic year shall be:

School	1	2	3
Business	540		
Hospitality & Tourism	540	720	
Academic Services	555	720	
Construction	570	585	645
Health & Public Safety	570		
School for Advanced Digital Technologies	555	615	675
MacPhail School of Energy	570	615	
Manufacturing & Automation	585	645	
Transportation	675		

The class contact hours for an instructional unit within a school may only be altered from one of the above annual total class contact hours to a different annual total class contact hours from those listed above, after prior consultation with the Association. No such alteration shall be made arbitrarily.

36.04

- (a) A class contact hour shall be fifty (50) minutes of synchronously or asynchronously scheduled instruction to students.
- (b) Class contact hours shall not exceed the following unless agreed to by the faculty:
 - (i) The greater of twenty (20) hours or three percent (3%) of the applicable class contact hours, in any given week averaged over a fifteen (15) week period.

- (ii) Six (6) hours in any given day, or
- (iii) Four (4) consecutive hours in any given day.
- 36.05 Part-time Salaried class contact hours shall be prorated based on full time equivalent.

 Temporary-salaried class contact hours shall be prorated based on both appointment length and full time equivalent. Exceptions to a pro-rated CCH for a part time faculty member will be included in a letter of employment.
- 36.06 Faculty in an instructional unit shall be advised of their class contact hours upon appointment. After the consultation in Section 36.02, if any changes are made to the instructional unit's class contact hours, the faculty will be notified as soon as possible after the start of the academic year, and in any case, not later than December 31st.
- 36.07 An instructional unit, which is a grouping of faculty within a school/department, shall be determined by the Dean or designee (non-academic staff member) after consideration of:
 - (a) subject matter,
 - (b) instructional methods, and
 - (c) the instructional environment, of the faculty involved.
- 36.08 Subject to 36.02, class contact hours of an individual faculty shall be assigned after considering:
 - (a) past practice in assigning faculty class contact hours,
 - (b) the needs of developing programs, or
 - (c) the needs of programs which have been operating above or below capacity.
 - (d) Principles outlined in the Faculty Workload Guidelines
- 36.09 The academic year will be defined by the Employer and will consist of twelve (12) consecutive months.
- 36.10 Scholarly Activity is defined as any activity that involves the intentional creation, integration, and/or dissemination of knowledge with a view to informing professional practice, contributing to the state-of-practice within a field, and/or impacting the broader external environment. When required, Scholarly Load will be calculated at 33% of each course's assigned class contact hour. Academic staff are required to follow the guidelines using the policy, AC.4.5. Scholarly Activity and Applied Research, and associated procedures.

- 36.11 The parties recognize that operational requirements require some instructional programs to be conducted before 8:00 a.m., after 6:00 p.m., and on weekends. SAIT can assign Class Contact Hours as follows:
 - (a) To any academic staff member hired with a start date on or after February 7, 2025;
 - (b) To any academic staff member hired with a start date before February 7, 2025 as follows:
 - (i) first, by mutual agreement the Dean or designee (non-academic staff member) and the academic staff member.
 - (ii) second, solely at the employer's discretion, to any casual or temporary-salary academic staff member,
 - (iii) next, beginning with Class Contact Hours scheduled for a course section or intake starting on or after September 1, 2025, to any permanent academic staff member,
 - (1) to a maximum of two (2) course sections per academic year, for programs that deliver course sections, or
 - (2) to a maximum of two (2) intakes per academic year, and to a maximum of sixteen (16) weeks, for programs that deliver intakes.
 - (c) All Class Contact Hours must be scheduled within a ten (10) hour window, between 6:00 a.m. and 10:00 p.m.
 - (d) There must be a minimum break of twelve (12) hours between the last Class Contact Hour worked on one day and the first Class Contact Hour worked on the following day. SAIT will act reasonably in scheduling mandatory in-person meetings within that period.
 - (e) There must be a minimum two (2) consecutive days off in each week.

36.12

(a) Qualified permanent academic staff members shall have first right to participate in instruction given after 6:00 p.m., to a maximum of three (3) course sections per academic year.

36.13

- (a) Faculty shall receive overload payment pursuant to Section 46 when the total class contact hours for the current academic year exceed the class contact hours established for the instructional unit in which the faculty works during the current academic year. The delegation of overload class contact hours will be by mutual agreement between the Employer and the faculty.
- (b) Faculty shall receive overload payment pursuant to Section 46 when the total class contact hours for the current academic year exceed the assigned class contact hours established pursuant to 36.03 unless the special assignment has been reduced or removed.

36.14 Faculty who have been assigned class contact hours at a level lower than the instructional unit's class contact hours may be assigned class contact hours to the maximum allowable with reasonable notice and without any additional remuneration.

SECTION 37 - COURT LEAVE

- 37.01 When an academic staff member is summoned as a defendant or subpoenaed as a witness to appear in court to give Employer evidence or to produce Employer records, they shall be allowed leave with pay, but any court fee received by the member shall be paid to the Employer.
- 37.02 When an academic staff member is summoned as a juror or subpoenaed as a witness in their private capacity:
 - (a) at a location within the Province of Alberta, the academic staff member shall be allowed leave with pay but any court fee received shall be paid to the Employer.
 - (b) at a location outside the Province of Alberta, leave may be allowed with pay, if authorized by the Employer, but any court fee received shall be paid to the Employer.

SECTION 38 - CHRISTMAS LEAVE

- 38.01 Academic staff members shall be granted the work days between Boxing Day and New Year's Day as Christmas Leave, or, if required to work on those days, shall be paid, in addition to the member's regular pay, pay at straight time rates for all hours so worked.
- 38.02 The Christmas float holiday, pursuant to Section 33 of this collective agreement shall be observed:
 - (a) on December 22nd when Christmas Day falls on a Monday;
 - (b) on December 23rd when Christmas Day falls on a Sunday;
 - (c) on December 24th when Christmas Day falls on any other day of the week.
- 38.03 Annual vacation leave entitlement shall not be reduced by the taking of Christmas Leave.

SECTION 39 - LEAVE WITHOUT PAY

39.01 In accordance with Employer Policies and Procedures, an academic staff member may upon request and subject to operational requirements and Dean/Director or designee (non-

academic staff member) approval be granted leave without pay for a period not exceeding one year.

SECTION 40 - MATERNITY/PARENTAL/ADOPTION LEAVE

- 40.01 Maternity leave shall consist of two components:
 - (a) A health-related component, which shall provide benefits equivalent to the provisions of General Illness Leave.
 - (b) A non-health related component, which shall be granted in accordance with Policies and Procedures as established by the Employer for Leaves of Absence Without Pay.
- 40.02 Parental/Adoption leave shall be granted in accordance with the Policies and Procedures as established by the Employer for Leaves of Absence Without Pay. The academic staff member shall furnish proof of adoption.

SECTION 41 - TIME OFF FOR ASSOCIATION BUSINESS

- 41.01 Except where operational difficulties will arise, time off without a loss of regular earnings will be provided for association representatives and members to conduct official Association business for the following:
 - (a) Association/Management meetings,
 - (b) Health & Safety committee meetings,
 - (c) other Association/Management committees where matters of mutual concern are discussed,
 - (d) grievance investigations and disciplinary interviews in their capacity as Association representatives.
- 41.02 Except where operational difficulties will arise, time off without pay will be granted, with prior approval being received from the Employer for the following:
 - (a) for time spent meeting with the employer during the formal negotiation of a collective agreement and for meetings in preparation for and during negotiations.
 - (b) for up to full release from normal duties for the Association President during their term of office.
 - (c) for Association representatives to attend other Association business.

All Association representatives approved for time off without pay for Association business must submit their completed absence form to Human Resources.

- 41.03 To facilitate the administration of time off without pay the academic staff member will continue to receive their normal pay and the Association will be invoiced for the academic staff member's salary plus an administration fee of 18% of the total salary.
- 41.04 The Association shall provide the Employer with a copy of the request for time off. Academic staff members shall provide a minimum of five (5) work days' notice when requesting time off; however, consideration shall still be given in cases where the five (5) days' notice is not provided. Where such time off is granted for an indeterminate period the academic staff member shall communicate with the Employer on a daily basis in respect to the date of return.

SECTION 42 – LONG-SERVICE ALLOWANCE

- 42.01 An academic staff member, educational counsellor and librarian shall be eligible for an annual Long Service Allowance (LSA) of \$3,000.00 per year provided the academic staff member has completed ten (10) years of current continuous service.
- 42.02 The allowance shall be paid semi-monthly.

SECTION 43 - EDUCATION ALLOWANCE

- 43.01 Faculty with appropriate academic qualifications shall be paid one, but not more than one, of the annual allowances described in the following sub-sections. The allowance shall be paid semi-monthly:
 - (a) Each faculty who has earned a doctoral degree is entitled to an annual allowance of four thousand five hundred dollars (\$4,500.00). Honorary degrees do not apply.
 - (b) Each faculty who has earned a master's degree is entitled to an annual allowance of three thousand dollars (\$3,000.00).
 - (c) Each faculty who has earned a baccalaureate degree is entitled to an annual allowance of one thousand five hundred dollars (\$1,500.00).
 - (d) Each faculty who has earned two (2) Red Seal endorsed trade certificates is entitled to an annual allowance of one thousand five hundred dollars (\$1,500.00).
 - (e) Each faculty who has earned an Aircraft Maintenance Engineer License in two (2) or more categories is entitled to an annual allowance of one thousand five hundred dollars (\$1,500.00).
- 43.02 Educational counsellors and librarians with appropriate academic qualifications shall be paid the annual allowance described in Section 43.01 on a semi-monthly basis:

(a) Each educational counselor or librarian who has earned a doctoral degree is entitled to an annual allowance of four thousand five hundred dollars (\$4,500.00). Honorary degrees do not apply.

The degrees identified above must have been obtained from formal academic achievement from recognized university or institution, as determined by SAIT.

SECTION 44 - ACTING INCUMBENT

- 44.01 To receive acting incumbency pay, an academic staff member shall be designated by the Employer to perform the principal duties of the higher-level position for a minimum period of five (5) consecutive work days, during which time they may also be required to perform some of the duties of their regular position. On completion of the minimum five (5) day qualifying period in an acting incumbency position, an academic staff member shall be eligible for acting incumbency pay for the total period of acting incumbency, including the five (5) day qualifying period. Acting provisions shall not apply where an academic staff member is designated only limited additional duties.
- 44.02 Where an academic staff member qualifies in an acting incumbency position, they shall receive a minimum five (5%) percent of current salary in addition to regular salary or, subject to approval of the President, the member may receive the minimum salary for the class in the higher-level position.
- 44.03 It is understood that only one acting incumbent may be designated as a result of any one academic staff member's absence.

SECTION 45 - OVERTIME

- 45.01 An academic staff member occupying a position in any classification covered by this collective agreement shall receive overtime compensation, at time and one-half, (1 1/2) for all authorized hours worked in excess of the normal hours of work specified under Section 31 of this collective agreement. Such overtime hours shall be paid in the month following the one in which they were reported.
- 45.02 There shall be no pyramiding of rates of pay in the calculation of:
 - (a) overtime
 - (b) overload pay

SECTION 46 - OVERLOAD PAY

46.01 Payment for each excess contact hour shall be on the basis of the academic staff member's annual salary in force at the conclusion of the current academic year, divided by eight hundred and fifty (850), and shall be paid annually on the conclusion of the academic year.

SECTION 47 - FOUR FOR FIVE LEAVE

47.01 The Employer will maintain a Four for Five Leave Plan for academic staff members as governed by the Plan Document. Notwithstanding the terms and conditions of the collective agreement, the Employer may use academic staff members on a casual employment basis to replace academic staff members on Four for Five Leave.

SECTION 48 - TRAVEL AND SUBSISTENCE

- 48.01 Academic staff members who incur travel and subsistence expenses in the performance of authorized Employer business shall be reimbursed for those expenses in accordance with current Employer policy and rates.
- 48.02 The Employer agrees to consult with the Association prior to the alteration of travel and subsistence rates.

SECTION 49 - COPYRIGHT AND PATENTS

- 49.01 With respect to Copyright, the Federal Copyright Act shall apply.
- 49.02 With respect to Patents the Federal *Patent Act* shall apply.
- 49.03 Except with the consent of the Association, the Employer shall not require, as a condition of employment, that academic staff members execute a waiver of their rights under the *Patent Act* or the *Copyright Act*.
- 49.04 The Employer is responsible for the professional development in the form of training and education sessions. These sessions will include liability concerns and any changes to the *Acts* outlined in 49.01 and 49.02.

SECTION 50 - SALARY SCHEDULES

50.01	On October 1 st of each year, an Academic staff member shall advance by one increment on the salary grid, unless the Academic Staff Member has reached the maximum on the salary grid. Academic Staff Members hired prior to July 1 shall receive a grid step increase on Oct 1 of the year they are hired. Those hired after July 1 shall receive their grid step increase on Oct 1 of the following year.

FACULTY 2024 – 2025

July 1, 2024 - June 30, 202	25													
CLASS TITLE	STEP 7	STEP 8	STEP 9	STEP 10	STEP 11	STEP 12	STEP 13	STEP 14	STEP 15	STEP 16	STEP 17	STEP 18	STEP 19	
	Annually	72,288	75,171	78,195	81,307	84,559	87,950	91,482	94,226	97,053	100,311	103,569	106,826	110,086
Faculty	Monthly	6,024.00	6,264.25	6,516.25	6,775.58	7,046.58	7,329.17	7,623.50	7,852.17	8,087.75	8,359.25	8,630.75	8,902.17	9,173.83
	Hourly	37.07	38.55	40.10	41.70	43.36	45.10	46.91	48.32	49.77	51.44	53.11	54.78	56.45

LIBRARIANS 2024 – 2025

July 1, 2024 - June 30,	2025												
CLASS TITLE		STEP 3	STEP 4	STEP 5	STEP 6	STEP 7	STEP 8	STEP 9	STEP 10	STEP 11	STEP 12	STEP 13	STEP 14
	Annually	59,027	61,707	64,666	67,741	70,955	73,089	75,286	77,815	80,345	82,876	85,403	
Librarian I	Monthly	4,918.92	5,142.25	5,388.83	5,645.08	5,912.92	6,090.75	6,273.83	6,484.58	6,695.42	6,906.33	7,116.92	
	Hourly	31.31	32.74	34.31	35.94	37.64	38.77	39.94	41.28	42.62	43.97	45.31	
	Annually	64,666	67,741	70,955	74,371	77,775	81,345	83,784	86,299	89,198	92,097	94,999	97,896
Librarian II	Monthly	5,388.83	5,645.08	5,912.92	6,197.58	6,481.25	6,778.75	6,982.00	7,191.58	7,433.17	7,674.75	7,916.58	8,158.00
	Hourly	34.31	35.94	37.64	39.45	41.26	43.15	44.45	45.78	47.32	48.86	50.40	51.93
	Annually	70,955	74,371	77,775	81,422	85,231	87,785	90,414	93,452	96,489	99,529	102,564	
Librarian III	Monthly	5,912.92	6,197.58	6,481.25	6,785.17	7,102.58	7,315.42	7,534.50	7,787.67	8,040.75	8,294.08	8,547.00	
	Hourly	37.64	39.45	41.26	43.19	45.22	46.57	47.97	49.58	51.19	52.80	54.41	

EDUCATIONAL COUNSELLORS 2024 - 2025

July 1, 2024 - June 30, 202	25											
CLASS TITLE		STEP 3	STEP 4	STEP 5	STEP 6	STEP 7	STEP 8	STEP 9	STEP 10	STEP 11	STEP 12	STEP 13
	Annually	76,099	79,643	83,504	87,442	91,849	94,607	97,439	100,712	103,986	107,262	110,532
Educational Counsellor I	Monthly	6,341.58	6,636.92	6,958.67	7,286.83	7,654.08	7,883.92	8,119.92	8,392.67	8,665.50	8,938.50	9,211.00
	Hourly	40.37	42.25	44.30	46.39	48.73	50.19	51.69	53.43	55.16	56.90	58.64
	Annually	81,650	85,448	89,741	94,162	99,002	101,973	105,034	108,564	112,092	115,623	119,150
ducational Counsellor II	Monthly	6,804.17	7,120.67	7,478.42	7,846.83	8,250.17	8,497.75	8,752.83	9,047.00	9,341.00	9,635.25	9,929.17
	Hourly	43.32	45.33	47.61	49.95	52.52	54.10	55.72	57.59	59.47	61.34	63.21

FACULTY 2025 – 2026

July 1, 2025 - June 30, 2	026													
CLASS TITLE		STEP 7	STEP 8	STEP 9	STEP 10	STEP 11	STEP 12	STEP 13	STEP 14	STEP 15	STEP 16	STEP 17	STEP 18	STEP 19
	Annually	74,457	77,427	80,540	83,746	87,096	90,588	94,226	97,053	99,964	103,320	106,676	110,031	113,389
Faculty	Monthly	6,204.75	6,452.25	6,711.67	6,978.83	7,258.00	7,549.00	7,852.17	8,087.75	8,330.33	8,610.00	8,889.67	9,169.25	9,449.08
	Hourly	38.18	39.71	41.30	42.95	44.66	46.46	48.32	49.77	51.26	52.98	54.71	56.43	58.15

LIBRARIANS 2025 – 2026

July 1, 2025 - June 30,	2026												
CLASS TITLE		STEP 3	STEP 4	STEP 5	STEP 6	STEP 7	STEP 8	STEP 9	STEP 10	STEP 11	STEP 12	STEP 13	STEP 14
	Annually	60,798	63,559	66,606	69,773	73,083	75,281	77,544	80,150	82,756	85,362	87,966	
Librarian I	Monthly	5,066.50	5,296.58	5,550.50	5,814.42	6,090.25	6,273.42	6,462.00	6,679.17	6,896.33	7,113.50	7,330.50	
	Hourly	32.25	33.72	35.33	37.01	38.77	39.94	41.14	42.52	43.90	45.28	46.67	
	Annually	66,606	69,773	73,083	76,602	80,109	83,786	86,298	88,888	91,874	94,860	97,849	100,833
Librarian II	Monthly	5,550.50	5,814.42	6,090.25	6,383.50	6,675.75	6,982.17	7,191.50	7,407.33	7,656.17	7,905.00	8,154.08	8,402.75
	Hourly	35.33	37.01	38.77	40.64	42.50	44.45	45.78	47.16	48.74	50.32	51.91	53.49
	Annually	73,083	76,602	80,109	83,864	87,788	90,418	93,127	96,255	99,384	102,515	105,641	
Librarian III	Monthly	6,090.25	6,383.50	6,675.75	6,988.67	7,315.67	7,534.83	7,760.58	8,021.25	8,282.00	8,542.92	8,803.42	
	Hourly	38.77	40.64	42.50	44.49	46.57	47.97	49.40	51.06	52.72	54.38	56.04	

EDUCATIONAL COUNSELLORS 2025 – 2026

July 1, 2025 - June 30, 202	26											
		STEP 3	STEP 4	STEP 5	STEP 6	STEP 7	STEP 8	STEP 9	STEP 10	STEP 11	STEP 12	STEP 13
	Annually	78,382	82,032	86,009	90,065	94,605	97,445	100,362	103,734	107,105	110,480	113,848
Educational Counsellor	Monthly	6,531.83	6,836.00	7,167.42	7,505.42	7,883.75	8,120.42	8,363.50	8,644.50	8,925.42	9,206.67	9,487.33
	Hourly	41.58	43.52	45.63	47.78	50.19	51.69	53.24	55.03	56.82	58.61	60.40
	Annually	84,100	88,011	92,433	96,986	101,972	105,032	108,185	111,821	115,455	119,091	122,725
Educational Counsellor II	Monthly	7,008.33	7,334.25	7,702.75	8,082.17	8,497.67	8,752.67	9,015.42	9,318.42	9,621.25	9,924.25	10,227.08
	Hourly	44.62	46.69	49.04	51.45	54.10	55.72	57.39	59.32	61.25	63.18	65.11

FACULTY 2026 – 2027

	July 1, 2026 - June 30, 2027														
	CLASS TITLE		STEP 7	STEP 8	STEP 9	STEP 10	STEP 11	STEP 12	STEP 13	STEP 14	STEP 15	STEP 16	STEP 17	STEP 18	STEP 19
		Annually	76,691	79,749	82,957	86,259	89,709	93,306	97,053	99,965	102,963	106,420	109,876	113,332	116,791
	Faculty	Monthly	6,390.92	6,645.75	6,913.08	7,188.25	7,475.75	7,775.50	8,087.75	8,330.42	8,580.25	8,868.33	9,156.33	9,444.33	9,732.58
		Hourly	39.33	40.90	42.54	44.24	46.00	47.85	49.77	51.26	52.80	54.57	56.35	58.12	59.89

LIBRARIANS 2026 - 2027

July 1, 2026 - June 30, 20)27												
CLASS TITLE		STEP 3	STEP 4	STEP 5	STEP 6	STEP 7	STEP 8	STEP 9	STEP 10	STEP 11	STEP 12	STEP 13	STEP 14
	Annually	62,622	65,465	68,605	71,866	75,276	77,540	79,871	82,554	85,238	87,923	90,605	
Librarian I	Monthly	5,218.50	5,455.42	5,717.08	5,988.83	6,273.00	6,461.67	6,655.92	6,879.50	7,103.17	7,326.92	7,550.42	
	Hourly	33.22	34.73	36.40	38.13	39.93	41.14	42.37	43.80	45.22	46.64	48.07	
	Annually	68,605	71,866	75,276	78,900	82,512	86,299	88,887	91,554	94,630	97,706	100,784	103,858
Librarian II	Monthly	5,717.06	5,988.87	6,272.98	6,575.03	6,875.98	7,191.60	7,407.23	7,629.51	7,885.85	8,142.18	8,398.70	8,654.85
	Hourly	36.40	38.13	39.93	41.86	43.77	45.78	47.15	48.57	50.20	51.83	53.47	55.10
	Annually	75,276	78,900	82,512	86,380	90,422	93,131	95,921	99,143	102,366	105,590	108,810	
Librarian III	Monthly	6,272.98	6,575.03	6,875.98	7,198.34	7,535.17	7,760.91	7,993.39	8,261.93	8,530.46	8,799.18	9,067.54	
	Hourly	39.93	41.86	43.77	45.82	47.97	49.41	50.89	52.60	54.31	56.02	57.72	

EDUCATIONAL COUNSELLORS 2026 – 2027

July 1, 2026 - June 30, 2027												
CLASS TITLE		STEP 3	STEP 4	STEP 5	STEP 6	STEP 7	STEP 8	STEP 9	STEP 10	STEP 11	STEP 12	STEP 13
	Annually	80,734	84,493	88,590	92,767	97,443	100,368	103,373	106,846	110,318	113,794	117,264
Educational Counsellor I	Monthly	6,727.83	7,041.08	7,382.50	7,730.58	8,120.25	8,364.00	8,614.42	8,903.83	9,193.17	9,482.83	9,772.00
	Hourly	42.83	44.82	47.00	49.21	51.69	53.25	54.84	56.68	58.52	60.37	62.21
	Annually	86,623	90,652	95,206	99,896	105,031	108,183	111,431	115,176	118,918	122,664	126,407
	Monthly	7,218.58	7,554.33	7,933.83	8,324.67	8,752.58	9,015.25	9,285.92	9,598.00	9,909.83	10,222.00	10,533.92
	Hourly	45.95	48.09	50.51	53.00	55.72	57.39	59.11	61.10	63.09	65.07	67.06

FACULTY 2027 - 2028

July 1, 2027 - June 30, 2028														
CLASS TITLE		STEP 7	STEP 8	STEP 9	STEP 10	STEP 11	STEP 12	STEP 13	STEP 14	STEP 15	STEP 16	STEP 17	STEP 18	STEP 19
	Annually	78,992	82,142	85,445	88,847	92,400	96,105	99,964	102,964	106,052	109,612	113,172	116,732	120,294
Faculty	Monthly	6,582.67	6,845.17	7,120.42	7,403.92	7,700.00	8,008.75	8,330.33	8,580.33	8,837.67	9,134.33	9,431.00	9,727.67	10,024.50
	Hourly	40.51	42.12	43.82	45.56	47.38	49.28	51.26	52.80	54.39	56.21	58.04	59.86	61.69

LIBRARIANS 2027 – 2028

Jul 1, 2026 - Jun 30, 2027													
CLASSTITLE		STEP 3	STEP 4	STEP 5	STEP 6	STEP 7	STEP 8	STEP 9	STEP 10	STEP 11	STEP 12	STEP 13	STEP 14
	Annually	62,622	65,465	68,605	71,866	75,276	77,540	79,871	82,554	85,238	87,923	90,605	
Librarian I	Monthly	5,218.50	5,455.42	5,717.08	5,988.83	6,273.00	6,461.67	6,655.92	6,879.50	7,103.17	7,326.92	7,550.42	
	Hourly	33.22	34.73	36.40	38.13	39.93	41.14	42.37	43.80	45.22	46.64	48.07	
Librarian II	Annually	68,605	71,866	75,276	78,900	82,512	86,299	88,887	91,554	94,630	97,706	100,784	103,858
	Monthly	5,717.06	5,988.87	6,272.98	6,575.03	6,875.98	7,191.60	7,407.23	7,629.51	7,885.85	8,142.18	8,398.70	8,654.85
	Hourly	36.40	38.13	39.93	41.86	43.77	45.78	47.15	48.57	50.20	51.83	53.47	55.10
Librarian III	Annual Salary Calc	75,275.7776	78,900.3530	82,511.8158	86,380.0694	90,422.0665	93,130.9368	95,920.6688	99,143.1207	102,365.5726	105,590.2100	108,810.4765	
	Annually	75,276	78,900	82,512	86,380	90,422	93,131	95,921	99,143	102,366	105,590	108,810	
	Monthly	6,272.98	6,575.03	6,875.98	7,198.34	7,535.17	7,760.91	7,993.39	8,261.93	8,530.46	8,799.18	9,067.54	
	Hourly	39.93	41.86	43.77	45.82	47.97	49.41	50.89	52.60	54.31	56.02	57.72	

EDUCATIONAL COUNSELLORS 2027 - 2028

July 1, 2027 - June 30, 2028												
CLASS TITLE		STEP 3	STEP 4	STEP 5	STEP 6	STEP 7	STEP 8	STEP 9	STEP 10	STEP 11	STEP 12	STEP 13
	Annually	83,156	87,028	91,247	95,550	100,366	103,379	106,474	110,051	113,628	117,208	120,782
Educational Counsellor I	Monthly	6,929.67	7,252.33	7,603.92	7,962.50	8,363.83	8,614.92	8,872.83	9,170.92	9,469.00	9,767.33	10,065.17
	Hourly	44.11	46.17	48.41	50.69	53.24	54.84	56.48	58.38	60.28	62.18	64.08
	Annually	89,221	93,371	98,062	102,893	108,182	111,429	114,774	118,631	122,486	126,344	130,199
Educational Counsellor II	Monthly	7,435.08	7,780.92	8,171.83	8,574.42	9,015.17	9,285.75	9,564.50	9,885.92	10,207.17	10,528.67	10,849.92
	Hourly	47.33	49.53	52.02	54.59	57.39	59.11	60.89	62.93	64.98	67.03	69.07

2024 – 2028

SIGNATURE PAGE

Signed on the <u>7th</u> day of <u>Fe</u>	ebruary, 2025
FOR:	FOR:
The Board of Governors of the Southern Alberta Institute Technology (SAIT)	The SAIT Academic Faculty Association (SAFA)
Signature on File	Signature on File
David Frickson, Chair	Blair Howes, President

LOU – ADJUNCT FACULTY

Letter of Understanding Between

The Board of Governors of the Southern Alberta Institute of Technology (SAIT) And

The SAIT Academic Faculty Association (SAFA)

Re: Adjunct Faculty

Adjunct faculty contribute greatly to the academic and student success of SAIT. The nature of this type of employment is to be flexible and precarious. It is not SAIT's intent to engage with Adjunct Faculty to create ongoing and regular employment.

An Adjunct Faculty can be engaged in the approved programs after 6pm and weekends and in the non-approved programs.

The parties agree that:

- 1. Adjunct SAFA members and will pay dues as outlined in Section 6 and Section 1 and 11.03 will apply.
- 2. Pay for Adjunct Faculty is on a per course basis, based upon classroom instructional hours. Compensation is inclusive of all of the following activities:
 - a. Preparation
 - b. Classroom Instruction
 - c. Assessment- preparation and marking
- 3. The Adjunct Contract will contain:
 - a. Classroom instructional hours
 - b. Course name, Course number and delivery mode
 - c. Contract Dollar value based on the above.
 - d. Creation of program content and subject matter expertise in the non-approved programming.
- 4. No reduction of hours to the Classroom Instructional Hour commitment will occur when a general holiday falls on a day when an adjunct faculty would have otherwise been scheduled to instruct.
- 5. Adjunct faculty may be invited to participate in training and professional development, the hourly rate paid will be \$35.00/per hour.
- 6. Adjunct faculty may be contracted in the non-approved programs area for curriculum development, subject matter expertise or other projects on an assignment basis as stated in 3d. For such assignments, the hourly rate paid will be \$50.00/ per hour. Rates higher than \$50.00/per hour require approval from a Vice President, or designate, using the following conditions:
 - a. Qualifications and mastery of skill warrants a higher rate of pay
 - b. Labour market influence
 - c. Industry market influences
 - d. Unique or special skill set

- 7. No adjunct engagement shall be calculated at more than \$80.00 per classroom instructional hour unless approval is granted from the Vice President or designate, using the following conditions:
 - a. Qualifications and mastery of skill warrants a higher rate of pay
 - b. Labour market influence
 - c. Industry market influences
 - d. Unique or special skill set
- 8. A review of adjunct faculty paid greater than the maximum hourly rate shall occur quarterly at the JAC meeting; the purpose of the review is to inform the Association.
- 9. Current SAIT academic staff members may continue to teach as an adjunct faculty after 6 pm, using the terms of this Letter of Understanding.

This Letter of Understanding shall remain in effect for the term of the Collective Agreement.

Signed on the day of, XXX	
FOR: The Board of Governors of the Southern Alberta Institute Technology (SAIT)	FOR: The SAIT Academic Faculty Association (SAFA)
Signature on File David Erickson, Chair	Signature on File Blair Howes, President

This LOU has been extended by the parties' Memorandum of Agreement ratified February 7, 2025 and shall remain in effect for the term of the 2024-2028 Collective Agreement.

LOU – BENEFITS REVIEW COMMITTEE

Letter of Understanding Between

The Board of Governors of the Southern Alberta Institute of Technology (SAIT) And

The SAIT Academic Faculty Association (SAFA)

Joint Benefits Program Review Committee

The Parties agree that maintaining the long-term sustainability of the benefits plan is a shared responsibility between the SAIT Board of Governors and all staff groups. In order to share this responsibility a Joint Benefits Program Review Committee will be established for the term of the Collective Agreement. This Committee does not commit either party to having an ongoing Benefits Review Committee.

- A. The Committee shall be composed of equal membership from each of the employee groups:
 - 1. Two (2) Employer representatives to be appointed by the Associate Vice President, Human Resources.
 - 2. Two (2) SAFA representatives to be appointed by the President of SAFA.
 - 3. The Parties may each appoint an alternate to serve in the absence of a regular member.
- B. The Joint Benefits Review Committee will deal with the following topics as they relate to SAIT Benefit plans. This Joint Committee shall:
 - 1. Research, evaluate and recommend benefit program design changes and potential Collective Agreement language changes.
 - 2. Review the benefits program with respect to coverage, effectiveness and fiscal sustainability.
 - 3. Review the flexibility of the program plan.
- C. If the Parties, by mutual agreement, give the Committee authority to formulate recommendations for policy changes to a Plan, or to recommend changes to the benefits within its Terms of Reference, the Committee will make recommendations for the consideration of SAIT and the Association.
- D. The Committee may have the Consultant to the Plan(s) and representatives of the Insurers and Administrative Agencies present at its meetings to provide information to the Committee.

This Letter of Understanding shall remain in ef	fect for the term of the Collective Agreement.
Signed on the, XXX	
FOR:	FOR:
The Board of Governors	The SAIT Academic Faculty Association
of the Southern Alberta	(SAFA)
Institute Technology (SAIT)	
Signature on File	Signature on File
XXX, Chair	Blair Howes, President

This LOU has been extended by the parties' Memorandum of Agreement ratified February 7, 2025 and shall remain in effect for the term of the 2024-2028 Collective Agreement.

LOU – EDUCATION ALLOWANCE STUDY

Letter of Understanding Between The Board of Governors of the Southern Alberta Institute of Technology (SAIT) And The SAIT Academic Faculty Association (SAFA)

Education Allowance Study

The parties agree to form a joint committee comprised of equal representation (3 from each party) to study government-issued trade certificates held by faculty members, assess the relevance of these certificates to faculty roles and responsibilities, and how these may be included into Education Allowance payments.

The committee will meet within six months of ratification of the collective agreement, and will provide a report by June 30, 2026.

Signed on the <u>7th</u> day of <u>February</u>	, 2025
FOR: The Board of Governors of the Southern Alberta Institute Technology (SAIT)	FOR: The SAIT Academic Faculty Association (SAFA)
Signature on File David Frickson, Chair	Signature on File Blair Howes President

LOU – CCH TABLE HEADINGS COMMITTEE

Letter of Understanding Between

The Board of Governors of the Southern Alberta Institute of Technology (SAIT) And

The SAIT Academic Faculty Association (SAFA)

CCH Table Headings Committee

The parties agree to form a joint committee comprised of equal representation (3 from each party) to discuss and define the CCH Table Headings, currently represented as 1, 2, and 3.

School	1	2	3
Business	540		
Hospitality & Tourism	540	720	
Academic Services	555	720	
Construction	570	585	645
Health & Public Safety	570		
School for Advanced Digital Technologies	555	615	675
MacPhail School of Energy	585	645	
Transportation	675		

The committee will meet within six months of ratification of the collective agreement, and will provide a report by June 30, 2026.

Signed on the <u>7th</u> day of <u>February</u>	, 2025
FOR: The Board of Governors of the Southern Alberta Institute Technology (SAIT)	FOR: The SAIT Academic Faculty Association (SAFA)
Signature on File David Erickson, Chair	Signature on File Blair Howes, President

LOU - CDARI

Letter of Understanding Between

The Board of Governors of The Southern Alberta Institute of Technology
- and-

The SAIT Academic Faculty Association

RE: CDARI Online Asynchronous, Non-Approved

As SAIT implements the various components of the 2024-2028 Collective Agreement, various issues may arise from time to time. This Letter of Understanding (LOU) is between the Board of Governors of the Southern Alberta Institute of Technology (SAIT) and the SAIT Academic Faculty Association (SAFA or the Association) and is to be used as a transition document which may require revision or amendment from time to time. Changes will be based upon the mutual agreement of the Parties.

The Parties agree to the following terms in respect of Online Asynchronous, Non-Approved training offered by CDARI:

Calculation of Online Asynchronous lump sum

- At the point of engagement, the division will identify to the Instructor the minimum enrollment necessary for the class to run and applicable payment based on this minimum enrollment
- The payment to the Instructor will increase based on effort required which is determined by the number of enrollments in the class over and above the minimum number of students
- If students withdraw from the class prior to the add/drop date, the Instructor payment will be deducted accordingly
- If students withdraw from the class after the add/drop date, the lump sum payment will not be altered and the Instructor will receive full payment

Online Asynchronous Contract payment cadence

- The lump sum payments will be paid in 2 equal installments.
- 1st installment at the half way point of the class with the 2nd installment paid at conclusion of instructor responsibilities

Notice requirements for canceling classes

- Online Asynchronous registrations will remain open until the start date of the class
- 2 weeks' pay in lieu of notice will not be required for Online Asynchronous classes that are canceled with less than 2 weeks' notice

Further, on a bi-annual basis and upon request, SAIT will provide the SAFA President with a report containing open contract, employee ID and start date for Adjunct contracts in non-approved programming.

Unless otherwise specified all other provisions of the Collective Agreement continue to apply and remain in full force and effect during the term of this Letter of Understanding.

This LOU will be effective March 2024 and remain in effect until June 30, 2028. This LOU will expire and the terms contained or amended within will not be in effect after the expiry.

Signed on the day of, 2025				
FOR:	FOR:			
The Board of Governors	The SAIT Academic Faculty Association			
of the Southern Alberta	(SAFA)			
Institute Technology (SAIT)				
Signature on File	Signature on File			
XXX, Chair	Blair Howes, President			

This LOU has been extended by the parties' Memorandum of Agreement ratified February 7, 2025 and shall remain in effect for the term of the 2024-2028 Collective Agreement.